

# National Library

### Canadian Theses Service

#### Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 👻

### Bibliothèque nationale . du Canada

### Service des thèses canadiennes

k

A

## 6

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor prewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supeneure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de cellaines pages peut-laisser à désirer, suiteut si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous à fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, tests publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

 La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme estsoumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30.

Canadä

### THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA '

EFFECTS OF DIETARY FAT ON MUCOSAL-CELL MEMBRANE LIPID COMPOSITION AND PEROXIDE LEVELS IN THE LARGE INTESTINE

MARCO ENRICO TURINI

by.

### A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE

./ IŅ

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her written permission. L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

### ISBN 0-315-45609-4

### THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR: Marco TURINI TITLE OF THESIS: Effects of Dietary Fat on Mucosal Cell'

> Membrane Lipid Composition and Peroxide Levels in the Large Intestine

\* DEGREE: Master of Science YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 1988

Permission vis hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

M. TURINI

Bel-Air 99 1814 La Tour-de-Peilz Switzerland

Date: June 06, 1988

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for the acceptance, a thesis entitled EFFECTS OF DIETARY FAT ON MUCOSAL CELL MEMBRANE LIPID COMPOSITION AND PEROXIDE LEVELS IN THE LARGE INTESTINE submitted by MARCO ENRICO TURINI in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE in EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE

Un. J. Com

Dr. MT. CLANDININ (Supervisor)

Dr. ABR. THOMSON

Dr. V. BARACOS

Date: June 02, 1988

### ABSTRACT

It was hypothesized that dietary fat alters the membrane lipid composition and peroxidation of the so-called "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell populations in the rat large intestine. In this regard, Sprague-Dawley rats were fed diets providing 50% or 15% of energy as fat with polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio of 1.2 or 0.3 for a 25 day period. Cell populations were isolated and the effect of dietary fat on polyunsaturated fatty acid content and peroxide levels was determined.

Neither fat level, nor fatty acid composition of diets influenced total cholesterol, total phospholipid, and percentage of phospholipid classes. Increased polyunsaturated fatty acid content and increased unsaturation index of mucosal cell phospholipids occurred in animals fed high fat and/or high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio diet. This increased in polyunsaturated fatty acid content was paralleled by a decrease in the monounsaturated fatty acid content of mucosal cell phospholipids in these animals. The total saturated fatty acid level was not significantly affected by diet treatment. Variation in phospholipid fatty acid composition between cell fractions - "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" - was also observed.

Lipid peroxide values obtained for mucosal cell lipid fractions were sensitive to dietary fat treatment. Groups fed high fat diets, compared to groups fed low fat diets, exhibited higher peroxide levels when expressing the results as nmole equivalents of cumen hydroperoxide/mg of protein. Higher peroxide levels were observed in the mucosal cell lipid fractions for rats fed high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio diets compared to rats fed low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio diets when expressing lipid peroxide/nmole of phospholipids. Therefore, further research is required to delineate which dietary factors - fat level, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio, or both - primarily influence lipid peroxidation.

In conclusion, changes in fat level and fatty acid composition of the diet altered the mucosal cell membrane lipid composition in the rat large intestine, and influenced the susceptibility of mucosal cell lipid to peroxidation.

### THESIS ORGANISATION

Chapter 1 presents an extensive review on the large bowel cancer and its possible etiology. The theory on lipid peroxidation and free radicals, as well as the effects of diet and free radicals on colon cancer are covered. The review leads to the rationale and the hypothesis of this thesis research.

Chapter 2 reports and discusses the results of my study examining the effects of dietary fat treatment on the lipid composition and peroxide levels in the mucosal cells from the large intestine. An introduction recalls the rationale for this experiment, a general discussion covers the major findings and criticisms, and a proposal for future studies concludes the thesis.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to thank Dr. Tom Clandinin for his unlimited support and for the freedom a gave methroughout this study.

The patience, guidance, and invaluable advice of Manohar Garg, Dan Pehowich, Dr. Goh, and Monika Keelan are greatly appreciated.

I extend my appreciation to my friends Catherine Field, Jaya Venkatraman, Doreen Walker, and Susan Gorek for their encouragement and technical assistance.

I am indebted to Monique Hempel for so kindly typing this manuscript, and to Margaret French for the proof reading.

Financial support by the Department of Medicine of the University of Alberta, and la fondation pour l'Encouragement de la Recherche sur la Nutrition en Suisse is gratefully acknowledged.

Finallement, un special remerciement à mes parents et mon oncle, Charles Mayor, pour leur support.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

٠.

a l

	Page
CHAPTER 1 - LITERATURE REVIEW AND RATIONALE	1
A. LARGE BOWEL CANCER, DIET, LIPID PEROXIDATION AND *FREE PADICALS: A REVIEW	2 -
coduction	2
II. formal Histology of the Colorectum	2
III. Cell Characterization .	3
IV. Large Bowel Cancer	4
a) Theories	4
i) Fat Fiber Theory	4
ii) Calcium Hypothesis	6
b) Diseases Increasing Risk.for Colon Garcinoma	7
c) Carcinogenesis	8
V. Influence of Diet on Cell Membranes	10
a) Mammalian Membrane: Structure and Composition	10
b) Diet Influence on Membrane Composition and Eunction	10
VI. Lipid Peroxidation and Free Radicals	13
a) Free Radicals	13
b) Lipid Peroxides in Diet	14
c) Intracellular and Membrane Lipid Peroxidation	15
VII. Selenium, Vitamin E and Cancer	19
VIII. Synthesis of Two Theories on Colon Cancer Development:	• /
An Hypothesis	21
IX. Summary	22
B. RATIONALE	23
C. OUTLINE OF THESIS	24
I. Hypothesis	24

viii

	1		
			-
	•	II. Statements of Objectives	
	D.	REFERENCES	24 🐑
	v.	KLFLKENUES	26
	CHA	PTER 2 - EFFECTS OF DIET TREATMENT ON LIPID COMPOSITION AND PEROXIDE LEVELS OF MUCOSAL CELLS IN THE LARGE INTESTINE	35
	Α.	INTRODUCTION	36
. مرکنی ۲۰۰۱ و ۲۰۰۱ ۲۰۰۱	Β.	MATERIAL AND METHODS	37
-		I. Animals and Diets	37
•		II. Cell Isolation	41
		III. <sup>3</sup> H-Thymidine Incorporation	43
•		IV. Thymidine Kinase Assay	44
•	ų.	V. Lipid Extraction	45
		VI. Separation of Lipids	46
		VII. Fatty Acid Analysis	46
3	м., м., а	VIII. Total Cholesterol Analysis	47
- <b>4</b>		IX. Total and Relative Percentage of Phospholipids	48
, <b>,</b> ,	•	a) Total Phospholipids	48
		b) Relative Percentage of Phospholipids	48
	•	X. Lipid Peroxide Determination	49
		XI. Vitamin E Determination	50
a <u>1</u>		ą) Diet	50
	-	b) Serum	50
	۰.	XII. Statistical, Analysis	52
ð.	С.	REŞULTS	52
	•	I. Effect of Diet Treatment on Body Weight	52
	• •	II. Effect of Diet Treatment on Mucosal Cell Isolation and Thymidine Kinase Activity	53
¥		a) Cell Isolation	53
	с. <b>с</b> .		

· .

.•

ix

	b) Thymidine Kinase Activity	- 55
	III. Effect of Diet Treatment on Lipid Composition of Aucosal Cells	55
	IV. Effect of Liet Treatment on Phospholipid Fatty Acid Composition of Mucosal Cells	62
	a) Phosphatidylethanolamine	62
	u) Phosphatidylcholine	64
•	c) Phosphatidylinositol	67
ب کر اور اور اور اور اور اور اور اور اور او	d) Phosphatidylserine	69
	V. Effect of Diet Treatment on Serum Vitamin E Levels and on Lipid Peroxide Levels in Mucosal Cell Lipid	72 <sup></sup>
	a) Serum Vitamin E Levels	72
	b) "Proliferative" Mucosal Cell Lipid Peroxide Levels	72
с D.	DISCUSSION	. 78
	I. Effect of Diet Treatment on Mucosal Cell Isolation and Thymidine Kinase Activity	78
	a) Cell Isolation	78
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	b) Thymidine Kinase Activity	81,
	II. Effect of Diet Treatment on Lipid Composition of Mucosal Cell	82
	<pre>III. Effect of Diet Treatment on Phospholipid Content of Mucosal Cells</pre>	84
	IV. Effects of Diet Treatment on Phospholipid Fatty Acid Composition of Mucosal Cells	86 <sup>.</sup>
	V. Effect of Diet Treatment on Serum Vitamin E Levels - and on Lipid Peroxide Levels in Mucosal Cell Lipid	88
	a) Serum Vitamin E Levels	88
	b) Lipid Peroxide 🥕	90
Ε.	REFERENCES	96
€ <sup>€</sup> <b>F</b> .	CONCLUSIONS AND GENERAL DISCUSSION	107
G.	FUTURE STUDIES	112
	<b>x</b>	2000 - 11 Mar



### LIST OF TABLES ٠

ė

۰,

**`**}

. . .

Table	Descripiton	Page
2-1.	Composition of Experimental Diets	38 '
2-2.	Fatty Acid Composition of Experimental Diets	39
2-7	<sup>3</sup> H-Thymidine Incorporation into DNA of Mucosal Cells from the Rat Large Intestine	54
2-4.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Mucosal Cell Released From the Rat Large Intestine (total $\mu g$ of protein)	54
2-5.	Yield of "Non-Proliferative" and "Proliferative" Mucosal Cells from the Rat Large Intestine (%, w/w of protein)	56
2-6.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Thymidine Kinase Activity of Mucosal Cells from the Rat Large Intestine	57
2-7.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Total Cholesterol, Total Phospholipids, and Cholesterol to Phospholipid Ratio of Mucosal Cells from the Rat Large Intestine	58
2-8.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Relative Percentage of Total Phospholipid of "Non-Proliferative" and "Proliferative" Mucosal Cells from the Rat Large Intestine.	60
2-9.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Phospholipid Content of "Non-Proliferative" ad "Proliferative" Mucosal Cells from the Rat Large Intestine	61
2-10.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Phosphatidylethanolamine Fatty Acid Composition of "Non-Proliferative" and "Proliferative" Mucosal Cell from the Rat Large Intestine	63
2-11.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Phosphatidylcholine Fatty Acid Conposition of "Non-Proliferative" and "Proliferative" Mucosal Cell from the Rat Large Intestine	65
2-12.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Phosphatidylinositol Fatty Acid Composition of "Non-Proliferative" and "Proliferative" Mucosal Cell from the R Large Intestine	68
2~13.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Phosphatidylserine Patty Acid Composition of "Non-Prolife ative" and "Proliferative" Mucosal Cell from the Rat Large	،  ۱۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰

	•	Intestine	70
-	2-14.	Effect of Diets Containing Similar Vitamin E Densities (IU/1000 Kcal) on Rat Serum Vitamin E Levels (µg/dl)	72
	2-15.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Lipid Peroxidation of "Proliferative" Mucosal Cell Lipid Fraction from the Rat Large Intestine	76
	2-16.	Effect of Diet Treatment on Phosphatidylethanolamine and Phosphatidylcholine Fatty Acid Composition of "Proliferative" Mucosal Cells from the Rat Large Intestine	77

### LIST OF FIGURES

ĸ

۰,

e Description	Page
Carcinogenesis, Initiation and Promotion	9
The Lipid-Globular Protein Mosaic Model (from Singer SJ, and Nicolson GL. Science 1972; 1975:720-731.)	, 11
Lipid Peroxidation and Free Radicals: Pathways	17
Fatty Acid Composition of Diets	40
Standard Curve for Cumen Hydroperoxide	73
Absorption Spectra of Cumen Hydroperoxide and of Lipid Hydroperoxide from Rat Colonic Cell Lipid Fraction Determined by the Hb-MB Test	75
	Carcinogenesis, Initiation and Promotion The Lipid-Globular Protein Mosaic Model (from Singer SJ, and Nicolson GL. Science 1972; 1975:720-731.) Lipid Peroxidation and Free Radicals: Pathways Fatty Acid Composition of Diets Standard Curve for Cumen Hydroperoxide Absorption Spectra of Cumen Hydroperoxide and of Lipid Hydroperoxide from Rat Colonic Cell Lipid

xiv

R;

CHAPTER 1 LITERATURE REVIEW AND RATIONALE 1

A. LARGE BOWEL CANCER, DIET, LIPID PEROXIDATION AND FREE RADICALS: A REVIEW 2

I. INTRODUCTION

According to the American Cancer Society, more than 123,000 new cases of colorectal cancer are diagnosed annually in the U.S.A. The etiological factors are numerous, but generally relate to dietary habits and to genetic factors. A great deal of research eramines effects of diet on fecal constituents and on the incidence of large However little research has determined effects of bowel cancer. dietary fat on membrane composition in the intestinal tract in relation to the rate of lipid peroxidation, generation of free radicals and possible implications for initiation of colonic carcinoma. This chapter reviews intestinal mucosal structure, main theories proposed for development of large bowel cancer, influence of dietary fat on membrane composition, and generation of lipid peroxides and free radicals in relation to physiological effects. A synopsis of this information leads to the rationale of this thesis research.

II. NORMAL HISTOLOGY OF THE COLORECTUM

51

The large bowel of mice can be divided into ascending, transverse, and descending colon (1). The rectum is differentiated from the descending colon by having transverse folds of mucosa. Oblique folds characterize the ascending colon, while transverse and descending portions are distinguished by longitudinal folds (1).

The wall of the colon and rectum are composed of discrete layers including mucosa, submucosa, muscularis propria and serosa (1,2). As

opposed to the small intestine, the large bowel does not have a villus The mucosa contains simple straight tubular glands, known as (3,4).crypts of Lieberkuhn (3-5). The lamina propria - loose aerolar connective tissue - separates the crypts (1,2,5). The lower third part of the crypt is the site of an intense proliferation of undifferentiated cells. During cell migration to the upper part of the crypt, these cells differentiate into absorptive cells, goblet cells. and, to a lesser extent, into endocrine cells to form the epithelium. When differentiated, these cells do not undergo cell division. Thus, initiation of neoplasia has a greater chance to occur in the highly proliferative portion of the crypts.

### III. CELL CHARACTERIZATION

Plasma membranes of absorptive cells are divided into a luminal part, the brush border or microvillus membrane, and a basolateral region. Isolation and lipid characterization of microvillus and basolateral membrane (BLM) have been performed (6-16) mainly in rat and rabbit small intestinal epithelial cells. Interactions of lipids and proteins in enterocytes have been studied by differential scanning calorimetry, fluorescence polarization and Arrhenius kinetics (9-11). By these methods, important variations were found between proximal and distal portions of small or large intestine as well as within a cell between brush border and basolateral membranes(4, 6, 7, 17, 18).Basolateral membrane lipids exhibit a greater motional freedom compared with the microvillus. The lower fluidity observed in the brush border bilayer correlates with higher ratios of protein/lipid (w/w) and cholesterol/phosphollipid (w/w) than in the basolateral membrane

(10,11). The variations observed in lipid dynamics may be important for membrane functions. However, the functional implications of maintaining compositional differences in these two types of membranes are not yet known (11). Only recently has information been collected on the nature of the membranes of colonocytes (17-21). Variations between proximal and distal rat colonic luminal membrane lipid fluidity and composition have been reported (18).

### IV. LARGE BOWEL CANCER

The etiology of colorectal cancer may be attributed to two main factors: genetic and environmental (22). The environment is defined here as the content of the lumen of the intestinal tract, including diet, bile acids, and gut microflora. Racial, geographical or religious factors which influence life style may be related to differences in dietary habits. Consequently, attention is focused on the role of diet in large bowel cancer incidence and development.

a) Théories

i) The Fat-Fiber Theory

Both epidemiological and experimental studies support the theory of a tumor-promoting effect of high fat diets and a protective effect of dietary fiber (23-32). This theory emphasizes the role of secondary bile acids and gut microflora. Wynder et al (23), in an attempt to explain the relationship between dietary fat and colorectal cancer, postulated that concentrations of both bile acids and neutral sterols in the gut lumen and composition of the microflora are functions of fat

They also hypothesized that gut bacteria, by degrading bile intake. acids, may generate carcinogens. This is supported by a great deal of epidemiological research (27-29). When high risk populations characterized by high fat, low fiber diets - are compared with low risk populations - whose diets are low fat, high fiber - important differences are observed in the constituents and microflora of feces. High risk groups such as the English (27,28), Scots (28) and North Americans (28) have been compared with low risk groups such as Ugandans (27,28), Japanese (28) and Indians (28). In the high risk populations, higher concentrations of secondary bile acids, deoxycholic and lithocholic acids - which have known cocarcinogenic or carcinogenic activity - and a much higher ratio of anaerobic to aerobic bacteria have been observed. Fiber, by its water=holding and organic acid- and cation-binding properties, has been considered protective in the etiology of large bowel cancer (26,29,31). When populations with similar fat intake but different amounts of fiber intake were compared, a decrease of colon cancer incidence was observed (29,31). It is hypothesized that as fiber has the properties to adsorb organic acids and be water-holding, with high fiber intake (16 mg/day), carcinogens and other toxic products will be "inactivated" and diluted. Fiber also enhances gastrointestinal activity, thus decreasing transit time in the qut. Therefore, by decreasing the chance of the carcinogenic event, fiber may play a protective role in the etiology of colon cancer. Trude1 et al (26)demonstrated fat/fiber antagonism in rat dimethylhydrazine-induced carcinoma, supporting current epidemiological and experimental data. The influence of fat and fiber on incidence of large bowel cancer is well accepted, but the importance of type of fat

- saturated or unsaturated - still needs to be accurately delineated (26,33). Fibers vary in their effect; some types are antagonistic, others are protective (26,34,35).

### ii) The Calcium Hypothesis

Newmark et al (36) recently elaborated a calcium hypothesis, complementing the theory for fiber's protective effect. Free fatty acids and fecal bile acids, by decreasing the pH in the gut lumen, may be irritating for large bowel epithelium. This may increase its permeability and sensitivity to carcinogens and other toxic agents. However, free fatty acids and fecal bile acids will react with calcium (Ca++) to form insoluble soaps which are excreted via feces. This increases the pH and decreases the incidence of carcinoma. The availability of calcium is diminished by phosphate, which competes with free fatty acids and fecal bile acids to form calcium phosphate. Newmark's hypothesis, based on the reaction of calcium to form insoluble soaps, suggests that dietary calcium should be increased from current intake of 0.93 g/day to 1.5-2.0 g/day, a quantity believed to be non-toxic. This theory needs further investigation.

It is noteworthy to mention that  $Ca^{++}$  administered to rats by the intraluminal route (gavage) decreased brush-border membrane fluidity, but not basolateral membrane fluidity, from mucosal cells of the small intestine (37). While no significant alteration in lipid or total phospholipid fatty acyl composition occurred, part of the observed effect could be explained by increased sphingomyelin content in this membrane type. On the other hand,  $Ca^{++}$  administered intraperitoneally did not affect fluidity, lipid composition or enzyme activity in

brush-border or basolateral membranes. In vitro experiments using membrane preparations from the small or large intestine showed decreased brush-border membrane fluidity, increased saturated fatty acid content of total phospholipids as well as increased saturation index of this membrane after  $Ca^{++}$  treatment (38). Different effects depending on sites along the gut were observed. Unfortunately, only data on the brush-border membrane from the small intestine was presented. Mechanisms by which  $Ca^{++}$  affects membrane structure and function is not yet understood.  $Ca^{++}$  is also a second messenger which is modulated by phosphatidylinositol turnover, and that regulates phospholipase  $A_2$  activity (39). Prostaglandin metabolism is, in part, regulated by cytosolic  $Ca^{++}$  and phospholipase  $A_2$ . All these factors may play a significant role in development of neoplasia and carcinogenesis.

In summary, a decrease in incidence and development of colorectal cancer is correlated with a low fat, high fiber diet. A higher calcium intake may provide an additional protective factor. The postulated protective effect of selenium and vitamin E in large bowel cancer is discussed in a subsequent section.

b) Diseases Increasing Risk of Colon Carcinoma

Some diseases of the large bowel may lead to increased risk of colorectal carcinogenesis. Individuals at increased risk are those with familial polyposis, Gardner's syndrome, Turcot's syndrome, adenomatous or mixed adenomatous hyperplastic polyps and inflammatory bowel diseases including ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease (40-42). The chance of mutation in these diseased bowels is higher

than in healthy intestinal tracts. The risk is a function of severity of disease and age of the patient.

### c) Carcinogenesis 🖓

Chemically-induced tumours in animals and cell cultures (43,44) have been used to develop models for carcinogenesis. Two theories the dysplasia-carcinoma sequence (42,44) and the "de novo" development of carcinoma (45) - have been proposed. The opponents of the latter theory claim that the originating adenoma is not distinguishable from normal tissue even under microscopic examination. More attention has been given to the adenoma-carcinoma sequence (Figure 1-1). This multistage development of cancer is characterized by initial and promotional stages. In the initiation, apparently normal proliferative cells in the lower third portion of the crypt of Lieberkuhn may be subject to mutations, leading to dysplastic tissue. By the action of a tumor promotor, adenoma (benign tumor) within dysplastic cells may be In the promotional stage, some adenomatous cells may undergo formed. further modifications leading to carcinoma (malignant tumor). Malignant tumors degrade adenomatous cells by secreting plasminogen, a Indeed, a cure is possible if all neoplastic proteolytic enzyme. tissue is removed before or up-to the early malignant transformations. The initiation of carcinogenesis is a rapid process which involves DNA damage. On the other hand, the promotional stage is a relatively slow and unknown phenomenon characterized by many physical changes and increased cell proliferation. Due to the rapidity of the initiation, the promotional stage has been considered crucial in prevention (43).



g

### V. INFLUENCE OF DIET ON CELL MEMBRANES

### a) Mammalian Memorane: Structure and Composition

Singer and Nicolson (46) in 1972 proposed a fluid mosaic model of the membrane, emphasizing its dynamic aspect (Figure 1-2). In this model, lipids form a bilayer with their hydrophilic heads at the exterior and with their lipophilic tails at the interior of the membrane. Proteins can be either on the surface or embedded in the membrane. Other important components are carbohydrates, ions and water. Among the lipids, one can distinguish between polar lipids such as phospholipids (the main class) or glycolipids - and non-polar lipids - such as mono-, di-, tri-glycerides, sterols and sterylesters. The specific composition of a membrane characterizes its physical and biological properties. Great variations in composition occur among tissues but also among cells within a tissue. Comparisons between the Arrhenius break-point in intact membranes and the transition temperature of the bulk lipids led to the new concept of the importance attributed to the microenvironment surrounding the enzyme or functional protein in the membrane (47).

### b) Diet Influence on Membrane Composition and Function

Whether or not diet modifications in type and amount of fat can modulate membrane composition and consequently membrane physical and biological properties is of interest. "In vivo" and "in vitro" studies have been peformed as reviewed by Spector and Yorek (48). "In vivo", the effects of dietary fat on erythrocytes in humans (48) and on different membranes in diverse tissues of animals (49-55) have been

The material involved in this page has been removed because of the unvailability of copyright permission.

Figure 1-2. The lipid-globular protein mosaic model [From Singer SJ and Nicolson GL, Science .1972;175:720-731]

The membrane consists of a lipid bilayer in which proteins (solid bodies with stippled surfaces) appear at the surface of the membrane or embedded in the lipid matrix. The lipid composition of the microdomains surrounding the proteins controls, in part, the protein motional freedom within the plane of the membrane.

ς,

, .

investigated. "In vitro", the influence of various media on cells in culture, such as mammalian and Ehrlich ascites ce fibroblasts and platelets, have been examined (48). It is now accepted that membrane lipid composition reflects, in part, dietary fat intake. Fluorescence polarization, electron spin resonance, and differential scanning calorimetry studies have shown relatively high membrane fluidity in membranes with a high unsaturated versus saturated fatty acid content (49,53). This fluidity is also affected by cholesterol. Furthermore, functional changes in membranes such as liver microsomes (50,51), hepatocytes (56) and mitochondria (57,58) have been observed when∂diet fat was modified. Thus, not only intrinsic, but also extrinsic influences control membrane lipid composition, affecting membrane-bound enzyme activities. For a review on the effect of diet fat on subcellular structure and function, see Clandinin et al.(59). The structure and composition of both brush border (9-11,16-18) and basolateral membranes (7,8,10,11,17) have been determined in rats (7-11,17,18) and in rabbits (16). Little, however, is known about the role of dietary fat on lipid composition of these membranes in both small and large intestines. Recently, Thomson et al. (61-63) studied effects of dietary fat manipulation on intestinal transport. In general, changes in intestinal function of healthy rats did not correlate with changes in the effective resistance of the intestinal unstirred water layer, the gut morphology, or with the brush-border membrane phospholipid or cholesterol content. However, in a previous study-by this group (64) brush-border membrane phospholipid fatty acyl composition was altered by feeding a saturated fat diet. Thus, it is likely that changes in the fatty acyl chains of the membrane lipid is,

in part, responsible for changes in active and passive intestinal transport resulting from manipulation by dietary fat. The mechanism by which these changes occur seems complexwand remains to be elucidated. Brasitus et al. (14) studied the effects of saturated and unsaturated triacylglycero] on the composition and fluidity of rat intestinal plasma membranes. In this experiment, proximal and distal portions of both small and large intestines were used. As observed in other tissues. diet influences enterocyte and colonocyte membrane composition. Marked variations between brush border and basolateral lipid composition and fluidity may underline individual functions of Further studies \_are needed to determine both these membranes. compositional differences exhibited and maintained by both membranes, dietary effects, and the physical and biological implication of changes in membrane composition.

### VI. LIPÍD PEROXIDATION AND FREE RADICALS

a) Free Radicals

Free radicals are generated through a homolytic break (65). They are characterized by an impaired electron and thus a net spin. These characteristics are used to measure free radicals by Electron Spin Resonance (ESR) (66-68). The toxicity of free radicals is a function of their lifetime in relation to their reactivity (65,66). A radical with short lifetime and high reactivity will interact with a nearby substrate. The consequence of this interaction depends on the kind of substrate involved. Conversely, a radical with a long lifetime and lower reactivity will be able to diffuse from its site of origin to

another site where, it may cause cell damage. Irradiation - ionizing radiation or light, or bond homolysis - uncatalysed or catalysed \*\*\* non-enzymatically or enzymatically, may generate free radicals (65). In vivo, free radicals are generally produced through a catalytic and complex pathway. Damage produced by free radicals are several. Reactive free radicals may cause DNA damage, destroy nucleotide coenzymes, generate lipid peroxides, injure membranes affecting their biological functions, and disturb SH-dependent enzymes (69).

b) Lipid Peroxides in Diet

Even if antioxidants are added to foods, lipid peroxides may be present in the diet (70). These peroxides are generated mainly by frying meat or heating oils to high temperatures.

Boigegrain et al (71) investigated the deperoxidation of hydroperoxylinoleix acid by glutathione peroxidase to its non-toxic product in the rat intestinal mucosa. Though the capacity of the intestine to reduce this lipid peroxide by glutathione peroxidase was 6-folc 'ower than in the liver, activity in the gut was not insignificant. This animal model needs to be applied to studies of humans.

The uptake of labelled secondary autooxidation products of linoleic acid was investigated in the rat (72). The dose was given intragastrically after a four hour fast, and approximately half of the orally fed secondary autooxidation products were excreted in the feces. From the other half that has been absorbed, approximatly 50% was discharged by urination and 25% through  $CO_2$ . The last 25% of secondary autooxidation products of linoleic acid were metabolized in the liver

with possible deleterious effects. Another group (73) performed the same experiment but fractionated the secondary autooxidation products mon meric-polymeric into and low molecular weight fractions. Interestingly, the low molecular weight compounds from methyl linoleate hydroperoxides were better absorbed. Only 3% of the radioactivity was recovered in the gastrointestinal tract and in the feces compared to 53% and 41% for the monomeric-polymeric fraction and methyl linoleate hydroperoxides, respectively. As can be expected, excretion through urine and CO<sub>2</sub> was much, higher for the low molecular weight labelled compounds compared to the two other fractions.

Bergan and Draper (74) found that about 45% of the  $1-^{14}$ C-methyl linoleate hydroperoxide, administered by intubation, still remained in the gastrointestinal tract of rats after 24 hours. It was found as intact peroxide, principally bound to the wall of the stomach. As no evidence was obtained for the absorption of unchanged peroxide, it is suggested that the hydroperoxide had undergone a reduction during absorption to the non-toxic hydroxy acid. A criticism to these experiments is that lipid peroxides tested were not mixed with food and levels were not physiological. This may affect the absorption process. On the other hand, it may be concluded that either long chain fatty acid hydroperoxides are not absorbed or epithelial cell membrane contains a defence system which transforms toxic lipid peroxides to non-toxic hydroxy acids. It may be more important that lipid peroxidation may occur intracellularly or in membrane.

c) Intracellular and Membrane Lipid Peroxidation

Ť

The process of lipid peroxidation is characterized by an

initiation, propagation and terminal sequence (Figure 1-3) (65). In the initiation stage, the decomposition of a substance such as an azocompound, generates a free radical. This free radical may react with oxygen to form a peroxyl radical. This unstable peroxyl radical may in turn interact with unsaturated lipid (the best substrate for peroxidation) and form a carbon  $\frac{1}{2}$  centred radical. In the propagation sequence, this new rabical reacts with  $0_2$  to again form a peroxyl radical, which in turn combines with another lipid. The end product of this reaction is a free radical and a hydroperoxide. Theoretically, these two steps are perpetuated until stopped by a termination reaction or until the substrate is used up. "In vivo", this propagation may not easily occur due to presence of antioxidants and absence of necessary substrates in proximity to the membrane (75). This termination reaction may occur when two radicals collide or by the presence of antioxidants up as vitamin E. The hydroperoxide may also undergo further reactions catalyzed by cytochrome P450. These reactions generate break-down products, including unsaturated aldehydes or malondialdehydes, but also toxic free radicals such as hydroxide or superoxide (76,77). The action of iron  $(Fe^{++})$  on hydroperoxide releases a free radical. By further degradation, this product leads to another free radical, which may enter the propagation sequence.

Ø.

Some enzymatic reactions and drugs reduce oxygen to the toxic superoxide, hydroperoxide or hydroxyradical (77). The action of hydroquinones, catecholamines and flavins on  $H_2O$  also release superoxides. Another pathway, the iron-catalyzed Habe -Weiss reaction, also generates free radicals (77). Superoxide, hydroperoxide and  $Fe^{++}/Fe^{+++}$  are involved. Rates of intracellular radical production are



17

Figure 1-3. Lipid peroxidation and free radicals: pathways

Legend:	LH:	int of the site specificities.	
	R". L":	free radicals	
		peroxyl radicals	
	ROOH, LOOH:		
	0,:	oxygen molecule	
		superoxide	
	02: 04:	hydroxyl radical	
	он":	hydroxide	
	H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> :	hydroperoxide	
	15 6	heme-peroxidase	
	2:	Set-dependent and non-Set-dependent	
		glutathione-peroxidase	
	3:	catalase	
	4:	spontaneous or superoxide dismutase	
	5:	ascorbate	

i

N.

affected by modulation of enzyme activities, cofactor availability, substrate concentrations, and oxygen tension (77). Furthermore, some conditions - such as hyperoxia, antibiotic and drug therapy, or ischemia - favour generation of free radicals and lipid peroxides (77). Free radicals not only have negative effects; they also play a protective role in phagocytosis against invading organisms (77), as well as in prostaglandin metabolism where small amounts of free radicals are needed for initiation of the cyclooxygenase reaction (78). Indeed, the cell must have a defence system against toxic lipid peroxides and free radicals. This defence system functions mainly via antioxidants such as vitamin E and the NADPH-dependent enzymes \_ selenium- and non-selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidases which catalyse the reduction of hydroperoxides (70,79-81). Heme peroxidase has the same function, but releases potent free radicals. As vitamin E is the only known lipid soluble antioxidant, interactions with water soluble antioxidants of the cytoplasm might occur. In the past two years, a number of experiments have demonstrated interaction between glutathione, ascorbic acid and vitamin E (82-86). It was also shown that the cytosolic fraction is of prime importance for efficient defense against reduced oxygen species; protein may be involved (85.87).

A normal cell maintains a balance between production and degradation of free radicals (88). Displacement in this balance may lead to cell injury through statictural and functional membrane damage or mutations. Extensive sub-cellular damage may result in cell death (89). On the other hand, cancer may originate from limited sub-cellular injuries. In a recent study, microsomes and plasma

....

membranes isolated from rat liver and hepatomas have been compared for lipid composition and antioxidant enzyme activities (90). Hepatoma membranes' exhibited lower lipid peroxidation susceptibility and lower enzymatic protective activity against toxic reduced oxygen species compared to normal membranes. While vitamin E content of both hepatoma and rat liver membranes were similar, this surprising lower lipid peroxidation susceptibility in hepatocellular carcinoma may partly be explained by a protective action of increased membrane saturation index. Consequently, the vitamin E to polyunsaturated fatty acid ratio was higher in the tumor membranes and this observation is in agreement with results reported by others (91). Furthermore, normal membrane fractions, after treatment by oxy radicals, tend to exhibit similarities with tumor membranes(90). These observations led to the hypothesis that structural and functional alterations of tumor membranes is a consequence of previous suffering in vivo by oxy radicals. Lipid peroxides are known to decrease DNA synthesis, cell division, and tumor growth. Effects of free radicals on mutation and cancer initiation have been extensively reviewed (92).

Peroxidation has been studied mainly in smooth muscle cell\_cultures (93) erythrocytes (67), liver microsomes (76,94,95), hepatoma microsomes (94), hepatocytes (96) and Ehrlich ascites cells (97). Peroxidation in gut microsomal or plasma membrane fractions has only been studied to a limited extent.

### VII. SELENIUM, VITAMIN E AND CANCER

A large number of studies related to vitamin E and selenium are found in the literature. It is well known that vitamin E limits lipid

0

peroxidation by free radicals, (reviewed by Tappel; 70). This antioxidative role functions in cooperation with selenium through Se-dependent glutathione peroxidase (98). In animals such as rats or chicks, a positive logarithmic correlation between GSH-peroxidase 'activity and selenium concentration has been found (70). A significant specific activity of the enzyme was measured in the stomach and small intestine.

The first animal experiments showing an anticarcinogenic effect of selenium was performed by Clayton and Baumann in 1949 (99). Many other studies have since shown this protective effect of selenium against cancer. The protective effect depends on the concentration used. Studies in animals with both spontaneous and chemically-induced tumours have been performed (100-103). The finding that growth of transplanted tumours was not prevented by selenium suggests its effect may be limited to aberrant cell populations in early phases of development.

Frequently, lower than normal concentrations of selenium in blood, serum or plasma were observed in cancer patients. Age-corrected cancer mortalities inversely correlated with calculated dietary selenium intakes for data of 27 countries (104). Regardless of statistical problems in epidemiological studies, the best correlation was found for breast (r=-0.80, p<0.0001), followed by colon cancers (r=-0.74, p<0.0001 for males and r=-0.72, p<0.0001 for females). A similar inverse correlation was found when selenium content of whole blood from healthy donors was examined, both for the 27 countries studied and for several states in the U.S. In conclusion, there is indication that selenium has a protective effect against cancer. Indeed, other antioxidants, including ascorbate and beta-carotene, have also been
correlated with decreased incidence of some forms of cancers (105).

A decreased incidence of mammary tumors in rats (106) and colonic tumors in mice (107) has been observed when diets were supplemented with vitamin E. Epidemiological data are not yet available on the possible protective effect of this vitamin in colorectal cancer. There are, however, two studies in progress - one in Canada (108) and the other in the U.S.A. (109).

## VIII. SYNTHESIS OF TWO THEORIES ON COLON CANCER DEVELOPMENT: AN HYPOTHESIS

In light of the data presented both bile acids and free radicals act in concert may to promote neoplastic diseases. High polyunsaturated fatty acid intake, among all the parameters that may be influenced. increases membrane fluidity and membrane lipid peroxidation. Increased membrane fluidity may be associated with decreased membrane absorption selectivity leading to higher sensitivity to toxic products including carcinogens. Lipid peroxidation generates free radicals that may cause cell injuries such as membrane damage and DNA mutation. High fat intake has been associated with increased bile acid production from cholesterol. Secondary bile acids show carcinogenic activity, which may be enhanced in tissues with high membrane fluidity. Furthermore, dietary fat influences metabolism of prostaglandins, an important factor when considering neoplastic diseases. Direct effects of Ca<sup>++</sup> or its action as a second messenger also has to be considered. It should be remembered that carcinogenesis is a dynamic process.

i

It is of interest to note that human colorectal cancer, as opposed

to rats or mice, develops only in the lower part of the large bowel, the site of bile acid absorption, while the whole large intestine is in contact with bile acids. Thus, it may be relevant why human large bowel cancer develops at the bile acid reabsorption site. Why are there differences between man and rodents in sites of large bowel cancer? How does dietary fat influence colorectal cancer development? In conclusion, it seems that high fat diets of high polyunsaturated to saturated content may initiate and/or promote tumor development. Factors such as bile acids, membrane lipid fluidity and lipid peroxides may act in concert inducing and/or promoting neoplasia. Further investigations are needed to accurately delineate specific effects and mechanisms.

#### IX. SUMMARY

Colonic epithelial differentiated cells do not undergo division. Neoplasia and thus malignant tumours in this tissue likely originate from non-differentiated and proliferative cells located in the lower third portion of the crypt of Lieberkuhn. Factors such as fat, vitamin E, selenium, and other antioxidants may play an important role in the etiplogy of large bowel cancer. As observed in other tissues, a high polyunsaturated fatty acid diet should increase the content of this type of fatty acid in colonocyte membranes.

Polyunsaturated fatty acids are good substrates for lipid peroxidation and consequently free radical generation. These free radicals may cause cell damage, structural and functional injuries to membranes and mutations. Furthermore, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) augment membrane fluidity, possibly leading to higher sensitivity to toxic

agents, including carcinogens. These factors increase risk of developing colorectal cancer by affecting proliferative cells. Vitamin E - by its antioxidant function - and selenium - as cofactor for glutathione peroxidase - play a significant protective role reducing incidence of some forms of cancer, such as mammary cancer. However,~ little is known about the influence of diet, first on large bowel cell membrane composition, and secondly on the role of lipid peroxidation in this tissue. Furthermore, little is known about the physiology of the proposed protective effect of vitamin E, selenium, and other antioxidative factors on colorectal carcinogenesis. In conclusion, as marked variations may occur from one tissue to another, further investigation is needed to determine the influence of these factors in the large bowel.

#### B. RATIONALE

Very little is known about the effect of dietary fat on the composition of the proliferative cell membranes in the crypt of the large bowel and on the extent of lipid peroxidation in this cell type. Rates of lipid peroxidation and free radical generation depend, in part, on the availability of polyunsaturated fatty acids in membranes, the main substrate for lipid peroxidation. Lipid peroxides and free radicals may cause cell damage and thus be important in development of large bowel cancer. Thus, understanding the relationship between dietary polyunsaturated fats and production of fatty acid peroxidation products in membranes is important to better understand the etiology of this disease.

23

₽....

#### C. OUTLINE OF THESIS

#### I. HYPOTHESIS

It is hypothesized that mucosal cell composition in the rat large intestine is influenced by diet. More specifically, it is hypothesized that:

- The lipid composition of "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells in the large intestine reflects, in part, the fatty acid composition of the diet.
- 2. Lipid fractions of the mucosal cells from rats fed high (50% as energy) or low (15% as energy) fat diets with a high P/S ratio (P:S=1.2) exhibit more lipid peroxides than rats fed comparable high or low fat diets with a low P/S ratio (P:S=0.3)
- 3. A high fat diet (50% as energy) either saturated or unsaturated - increases lipid peroxide production compared with a low fat diet (15% as energy) having the same P/S ratio (either P:S=1.2 or P:S=0.3).

C

#### II. STATEMENTS OF OBJECTIVES

The objective of the study was to investigate the effects of changes in the dietary fat level and fatty acid composition on the lipid composition and peroxidation of the mucosal cells in the rat large intestine. For this purpose, two cell populations, "non-proliferative" and "proliferative", were isolated. Lipids were extracted, and phospholipid class separated to determine the total cholesteriol and phospholipid content, as well as the percentage of each phospholipid class and the phospholipid fatty acid composition. Lipid peroxide levels were measured and correlated with the fatty acid unsaturation index of the cell phospholipids.

25

č

#### D., REFERENCES

ъ

. 🕈

1.	Ward JM. Morphogenisis of chemically induced neoplasms of the colon and small intestine in rats. Lab Invest 1974;30:505-513.
2.	Fenoglio CM and Hutter RVP. Colorectal polyps: pathologic diagnosis and clinical significance. CA-A Cancer J for Clinicians 1985;35(6):322-344.
	Hauri HP, Stieger B, and Marker A. The brush-border membrane of the rat colonic columnar epithelial cell. In: Desnuelle P, Sjostrom H, and Noren O, eds. Molecular and cellular basis of digestion. Elsevier Science Publishers B.V, 1986.
4.	Ganong WF. Regulation of gastrointestinal function. In: Drawer L. Review of Radical Physiology. Los Altos, California 94023: Lange Medical Publications, 1985:394-420.
5.	Fenoglio CM and Pascal RR. Colorectal adenomas and cancer. Pathologic relationships. Cancer 1982;50:2601-2608.
6.	Gustin MC and Goodman DBP. Isolation of brush-border membrane from the rabbit descending colon epithelium. J of Biol Chem 1981; 256(20):10651-10656.
	Brasitus FA and Keresztes RS. Isolation and partia] characterization of basolateral membranes from rat proximal colonic epithelial cells. BBA 1983;728:11-19.
8.	Brasitus TA. Lipid Dynamics and protein-lipid interactions in rat colonic epithelial cell basolateral membranes. BBA 1983;728:20-30
9. د	Brasitus TA, Schachter D, and Mamouneas TG. Functional interactions of lipids and proteins in rat intestinal microvillus membranes. Biochemistry (American Chem Society)1979;18:4136-4144.
10.	Brasitus TA, Tall AR, and Schachter D. Thermotropic transitions in rat intestinal plasma membranes studied by differential scanning calorimetry and fluorescence polarization. Biochemistry (American Chem Society) 1980;19:1256-1261.
11.	Brasitus, TA and Schachter D. Lipid dynamics and lipid protein interactions in rat enterocyte basolateral and microvillus membranes. Biochemistry (American Chem Society) 1980;19: 2763-2769.
10	

- 12. Brasitus TA and Schachter D. Membrane lipids can modulate guanylate cyclase activity of rat intestinal microvillus membranes. BBA 1980;630:152-156.
- 13. Brasitus TA. Isolation of proliferative epithelial cells from the rat cecum and proximal colon. Analytical Biochemistry 1982;123: 364-372.

1 dr

- 14. Brasitus TA, Davidson NU, and Schachter D. Variations in dietary triacyglycerol saturation alter the lipid composition and fluidity of rat intestinal plasma membranes. BBA 1985;812:460-472.
- Weiser M. Intestinal epithelial cell surface membrane glycoprotein synthesis I. An indicator of cellular differentiation. J of Biol Chem 1973;248:2536-2541.
- 16. keelan M, Walker K, and Thomson ABR. Effect of chronic ethanol and food deprivation on intestinal villus morphology and brush border membrane content of lipid and marker enzymes. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1985;63:1312-1320.
- Brasitus TA and Keresztes RS. Protein lipid interactions in antipodal plasma membranes of rat coloncytes. BBA 1984;773: 290-300.
- Brasitus TA and Dudeja PK. Regional differences in the lipid composition and fluidity of rat colonic brush-border membranes. BBA 1985;819:10-17.
- Brasitus TA, Dudeja PK, and Dahiya R. Premalignant alterations in the lipid composition and fluidity of colonic brush-border membranes of rats administered 1,2-Dimethylhydrazine. J Clin Invest 1986;77:831-840.
- 20. Dahiya R, Brown MD, and Brasitus TA. Distribution of glycosphingolipids of monkey small and large intestinal mucosa. Lipids 1986;21:107-111.
- 21. Dahiya R, Dudeja PK, and Brasitus TA. Premalignant alterations in the glycosphingolipid composition of epithelial cells of rats treated with 1,2-Dimethylhydrazine. Cancer Research 1987;47: 1031-1035.
- 22. Decosse JJ and Bayle JC. Overview of epidemiology and risk factors associated with colorectal cancer. In: Ingall JRF and Nastromarino AJ, eds. Carcinoma of the large bowel and its precursors. New York, NY: Alan R Liss Inc, 1985:1-12.
- 23. Wynder EL, Kajitani T, Ishikawa S, Dodo H, and Takano A. Environmental factors of cancer of the colon and rectum II. Japanese Epidemiological Data. Cancer 1969;23:1210-1220.
- 24. Phillips RL. Role of life-style and dietary habits in risk of cancer among Seventh-Day Adventists. Cancer Res 1975;35: 3513-3522.
- 25. Zaridze DG. Environmental etiology of large-bowel cancer. JNCI 1983;70(3):389-400.
- 26. Trudel JL, Senterman MK, and Brown RA. The fat/fiber antagonism in experimental colon carcinogenesis. Surgery 1983;94(4):691-696.

- 27. Arie V, Crowther JS, Drasar BS, Hiil MJ, and Williams REO. Bacte a and the aetiology of cancer of the large bowel. Gut 1969;10:334-335.
- 28. Hill MJ, Drasar BS, Aries V, Crowther JS, Hawksworth G, and Williams REO. Bacteria and aetiology of cancer of large bowel. Lancet January 1971:95-100.
- <sup>2</sup>29. Report from the international agency for research on cancer intestinal microecology group: Dietary fiber, transit-time, fecal bacteria, steroids, and colon cancer in two Scandinavian populations. Lancet July 1977:208-211.
- 30. Cummings JH, Wiggins <sup>11</sup>S, Jenkins DJA, Houston H, Jivraj T, Drasar BS, and Hill MJ. Inf ence of diets high and low in animal fat on bowel habit, gastrointestinal transit time, fecal microflora, bile acid, and fat excretion. J Clin Invest 1977:253-963.
- 31. Reddy BS, Hedges A, Laakso K, and Wynder EL. Fecal constituents of a high-risk North American and a low-risk Finnish population for the development of large bowel cancer. Cancer Letters 1978;4: 217-222.
- 32. Dales LG, Friedman GD, Ury HK, Grossman S, and Williams Jr. Original Contributions. A case-control study of relationships of diet and other traits to colorectal cancer in American Blacks. Am J of Epidemiology 1978;109(2):132-144
- 33. Nauss KM, Locniskar M, and Newberne PM. Effect of alterations in the quality and quantity of dietary fat on 1,2-dimethylhydrazineinduced colon tumorigenesis in rats. Cancer Res 1983;43:4083-4090
- 34. Jacobs LR. Enhancement of rat colon carcinogenesis by wheat bran consumption during the stage of 1,2-DMH administration. Cancer Res 1983;43:4057-4061.
- 35. Cruse JP, Lewin MR, and Clark CG. Failure of bran to protect against experimental colon cancer in rats. Lancet 1978;2: 1278-1279.
- 36. Newmark HL, Wargovich MJ, and Bruce WR. Colon cancer and dietary fat, phosphate, and calcium: A hypothesis. JNCL 1984;72(6): 1323-1325.
- 37. Dudeja PK, Brasitus TA, Dahiya R, Brown MD, Thomas D, and Lau K. Intraluminal calcium modulates lipid dynamics of rat intestinal brush-border membranes. American J Physiology 1987;252: 6398-6403.
- 38. Brasitus TA and Dudeja PK. Modulation of lipid, fluidity of small and large intestine antipodal membranes by Ca . Biochem 1986; 239 625-631.
- 39. Cantley LC, Whitman M, Chahwala S, Fleishman L, Kaplan DR,

Schaffhausen BS, and Roberts TM. Oncogens and phosphatidylinositol turnover. Ann NY Acad Sci 1986;488:481-490.

- 40. Fenoglio CM. Premalignant lesions of the colorectum. In: Ingall JRF and Mastromarino AJ, eds. Carcinoma of the large bowel and its precursors. New York, NY: Alan R Liss, Inc., 1985:23-44.
- 41. Riddell RH. Cancer and dysplasia in ulcerative colitis: An insoluble problem? In: Ingall JRF and Mastromarino AJ, eds. Carcinoma of the large bowel and its precursors. New York, NY: Alan R Liss, Inc., 1985:77-90.
- 42. Shorter RG. Colorectal cancer in Crohn's colitis and other large intestinal diseases: Is there a dysplasia-carcinoma sequence? In: Ingall JRF and Mastromarino AJ, eds. Carcinoma of the large bowel and its precursors. New York, NY: Alan R Liss, Inc., 1985:91-102.
- 43. Nigro ND. Animal model for colorectal cancer. In: Ingall JRF and Mastromarino AJ, eds. Carcinoma of the large bowel and its precursors. New York, NY: Alan R Liss, Inc., 1985:161-174.
- 44. Friedman EA. A multistage model for human colon carcinoma development from tissue culture studies. In: Ingall JRF and Mastromarino AJ, eds. Carcinoma of the large bowel and its precursors. New York, NY: Alan R Liss, Inc., 1985:175-186.
- 45. Maskens AP and Dujardin-Loits RM. Experimental adenomas and carcinomas of the large intestine behave as distinct entities: Most carcinomas arise de novo in flat mucosa. Cancer 1981;47: 81-89.
- 46. Singer SJ and Nicolson GL. The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membrane. Science 1972;175:720-731.
- 47. Nemere I, Dunlop CS, and Norman AW. Intestinal brush-border hydrolase topography. Effects of Vitamin D and filipin. BBA 1983;729:35-43
- 48. Spector AA, and Yorek MA. Membrane lipid composition and cellular function. J Lipid Res 1985;26:1015-1035.
- 49. Poon R, Richards JM, and Clark WR. The relationship between plasma membrane lipid composition and physical chemical properties II. Effect of phospholipid fatty acid modification on plasma membrane physical properties and enzymatic activities. BBA 1981; 649:58-66.
- 50. Spector AA, Kaduce TL, and Dane RW. Effect of dietary fat saturation on acylcoenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase activity of rat liver microsomes. J Lipid Res 1980;21:169-179.
- 51. Ginsberg BH, Brown TJ, Simon I, and Spector AA. Effect of the membrane lipid environment on the properties of insulin receptors.

Diabetes 1981;30:773-780.

.

- 52. Engelhard VH, Glaser M, and Storm DR. Effect of membrane phospholipid compositional changes on adenylate cyclase in LM cells. Am Chem Soc (Biochem) 1978;17:3191-3200.
- 53. Engelhard VH, Esko JD, Storm DR, and Glaser M. Modification of adenylate cyclase activity in LM cells by manipulation of the membrane phospholipid composition in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1976;73:4482-4486.
- 54. Sinensky M, Minnemann KP, and Melinoff PB. Increased membrane acyl chain ordering activates adenylate cyclase. J Biol Chem 1979;254:9135-9141.
- 55. Stubbs CD, and Smith AD. The modification of mammalian membrane polyunsaturated fatty acid composition in relation to membrane fluidity and function. BBA 1984;779:89-137.
- 56. Neelands PJ and Clandinin MT. Diet fat influences liver plasmamembrane lipid composition and glucagon stimulated adenylate cyclase activity. Biochem J 1983;212:573-583.
- 57. Renner R, Innis SM, and Clandinin MT. Effects of high and low erucic acid rapeseed oils on energy metabolism and mitochondrial function of the chick. J of Nutr 1979;109(3):378-387.
- 58. Robblee NM and Clandinin MT. Effect of dietary fat level and polyunsaturated fatty acid content on the phospholipid composition of rat cardiac mitochondrial membranes and mitochondrial ATPase activity. J Nutr 1984;114:263-269.
- 59. Clandinin MT, Field CJ, Hargreaves K, Morson L, and Zsigmond E. Role of diet fat in subcellular structure and function. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1985;63:546-556.
- 60. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, and Tavernini M. Early feeding of a highcholesterol diet enhances intestinal permeability to lipids in rabbits. Pediatr Res 1987;21:347-351.
- 61. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Clandinin MT, and Walker K. Dietary fat selectivity alters transport properties of rat jejunum. J Clin Invest 1986;77:279-288.
- 62. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, and Clandinin MT. Onset and persistence of changes in intestinal transport following dietary fat manipulation. Lipids 1987;22:22-27.
- 63. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Clandinin MT, and Walker K. A high linoleic acid diet diminishes enhanced intestinal uptake of sugars in diabetic rats. Am J Physiol 1987;252:G262-G271.
- 64. Keelan M, Clandinin MT, Walker K, and Thomson ABR. Dietary fat saturation alters brush-border membrane (BBM) phospholipid fatty

acid composition (Abstract). Clin Invest Med 1986;9:54A

۷.

- 65. Pryor WA. Free radicals in autoxidation and in aging. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Cutler RG, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press, 1984:13-42.
- 66. Swartz HM. Electron spin resonance studies of cancer: A report. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:5-20.
- 67. Lohmann W, Bensch KG, Saper H, et al. Free radicals and cancer. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:55-70.
- 68. Symons MCR. Application of electron spin resonance spectroscopy to biological problems. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:75-100.
- 69. Slater TF, Cheeseman KH, and Proudfoot K. Free radicals, lipid peroxidation, and cancer. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Cutler RG, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press. 1984:293-306.
- 70. Tappel AL. Selenium-glutathione peroxidase and vitamin E. Am J Clin Nutr 1974;27:960-965.
- 1. Boigegrain RA, Derache P, and Mitjavila S. Deperoxidation of hydroperoxylinoleic acid by the intestinal mucosa. Food and Chem Toxicol 1983;21(2):181-185.
- 72. Kanazawa K, Kanazawa E, and Natake M. Uptake of secondary autoxidation products of linoleic acid by the rat. Lipids 1985; 20(7):412-419.
- 73. Oarada M, Miyazawa T, and Kaneda T. Distribution of <sup>14</sup>C after oral administration of [U- C] labeled methyl linoleate hydroperoxides and their secondary oxidation products in rats. Lipids 1986;21(2):150-154.
- .74. Bergan TG and Draper HH. Absorption and metabolism of 1-14C-methyl-linoleate hydroperoxide. Lipids 1970;5:976-982.
- 75. Mead JF. Free radical mechanisms in lipid peroxidation and prostaglandins. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Culter RG, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press, 1984:53-66.
- 76. Cheeseman KH. Effects of scavengers and inhibitors on lipid peroxidation in rat liver microsomes. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:197-211.

- 77. Freeman BA. Biological sites and mechanisms of free radical production. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Cutler RG, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press, 1984:43-52.
- 78. Ergan RW, Gale PH, Beveridge GC, Marnett LJ, and Kuehl FA Jr. Direct and indirect involvement of radical scavengers during prostaglandin biosynthesis. Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Res 1980;6:153-155.
- 79. Torielli MV and Dianzani MV. Free radicals in inflammatory disease. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Culter RG, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press, 1984:355-380.
- 80. Hoekstra WG. Biochemical function of selenium and its relation to vitamin E. Federation Proc 1975;34:2083-2089.
- 81. Hill KE and Burk RF. Influence of vitamin E and selenium on glutathione-dependent protection against microsomal lipid peroxidation. Pharmacol 1984;33:1065-1068.
- 82. Gibson DD, Hawrylko J, and McKay PB. GSH-Dependent inhibition of lipid peroxidation: properties of a potent cytosolic system which protects cell membranes. Lipids 1985;20(10):704-711.
- 83. Liebler DC, Kling DS, and Reed DJ. Antioxidant protection of phospholipids bilayers by alpha-tocopherol (Control of alpha -tocopherol status and lipid peroxidation by ascorbic acid and glutathione). J Biol Chem 1986;261(26):12114-12119.
- 84. Kawai-Kobayashi K and Yoshida A. Effect of dietary ascorbic acid and vitamin E on metabolic changes in rats and guinea pigs exposed to PCB. J Nutr 1986;116:98-106.
  - 85. Wayner DDM, Burton GW, Ingold KU, Barclay LRC, and Locke SJ. The relative contributions of vitamin E, unate, ascorbate and proteins to the total peroxyl radical-trapping antioxidant activity of human blood plasma. BBA 1987;924:408-419.
  - 86. Thiriot C, Durand P, Jasseron MP, Kergonou JF, and Ducousso R. Radiosensitive antioxidant membrane-bound factors in rat liver microsomes: The roles of glutathione and vitamin E. Biochem Int 1987;14(1):1-8.
  - 87. Thiriot C, Durand P, Jasseron MP, Kergonou JF, and Ducousso R. Radiosensitive antioxidant membrane-bound factors in rat liver microsomes: The role of cytosol. Biochem Int 1987;14(1):9-14.
  - 88. Hassan HM. Superoxide dismutase: An antioxidant defense enzyme. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Cutler RG, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press, 1984:77-86.

89. Willson RL. Iron and hydroxyl free radicals in enzyme inactivation and cancer. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation, and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:275-304.

2

- 90. Galeotti T, Borrello S, and Minotti G. Membrane alteration in cancer cells: The role of oxy radicals. Ann NY Acad Sci 1986; 488:468-480.
- 91. Cheeseman KH, Collins M, Proudfoot K, Slater TF, Burton GW, Webb AC, and Ingold KU. Studies on lipid peroxidation in normal and tumor tissues: The novikoff rat liver tumor. Biochem J 1986; 235:507-514.
- 92. Vuillaune M. Reduced oxygen species, mutation, induction and cancer initiation. Mutation research 1987;186:43-72.
- 93. Morisaki N, Lindsey JA, Stitts JM, Zhang H, and Cornwell DG. Fatty acid metabolism and cell proliferation V. Evaluation of pathways for the generation of lipid peruxides. Lipids 1984,19(6):381-394.
- . 94. Diazani MV. Biochemical effects of saturated and unsaturated aldehydes. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982: 129-151.
  - 95. Player TJ. Lipid peroxidation in rat liver, hepatomas and regenerating liver. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:173-192.
  - 96. Poli G and Gravela E. Lipid peroxidation in isolated hepatocytes. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:215-234.
  - 97. Shauenstein E. Effects of low concentrations of aldehydes on tumour cells and tumour growth. In: McBrien DCH and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer. London: Academic Press, 1982:159-166.
  - 98. Reddy CC, Rao MK, Mastro Am, and Egan RW. Measurement of glutathione requiring enzymes involved in arachidonic acid cascade of rat basophilic leukemia cells. Biochem Int 1984;9(6):755-761.
  - 99. Clayton CC and Baumann CA. Diet and azo dye tumors: Effect of diet during a period when the dye is not fed. Cancer Res 1949;9: 575-582.
- 100. Schrauzer GN, and Ishmael D. Effects of selenium and of arsenic on the genesis of spontaneous mammary tumors in inbred  $C_3H$  mice. Annals of Clinical and Laboratory Science 1974;14(6):441-447.
- 101. Schrauzer GN, White DA, and Shneider CJ. Selenium and cancer: effects of selenium and of the diet on the genesis of spontaneous

....

mammary tumors on virgin inbred female C3H/st mice. Bioinorganic Chemistry 1978;8:387-396.

102. Jacobs MM. Inhibitory effects of selenium on 1,2-dimethylhydrazine and methylazoxy methanol colon carcinogenesis: Correlative studies on selenium effects on the mutagenicity and sister chromatid exchange rates of selected carcinogens. Cancer 1977;40(5 Suppl.):2557-2564.

- 103. Jacobs MM, et al. Biochemical and clinical effects of selenium on dimethylhydrazine-induced colon cancer in rats. Cancer Res 1981; 41(11 Pt 1):4458-4465.
- 104. Schrauzer GN, White DA, and Shneider CJ. Cancer mortality correlation studies III: Statistical associations with dietary selenium intakes. Bioinorganic Chemistry 1977;7:23-24.
- 105. Watson AR, and Leonard TK. Selenium and vitamins A, E, and C: Nutrients with cancer prevention properties. J Am Diet Assoc 1986; 86:505-510.
- 106. Harman D. Free radical theory of aging: Effect of vitamin E on tumour incidence. Gerontologist 1972;12(3):Part 2,33 (abstract).
- 107. Cook MG, McNamara P. Effect of dietary vitamin E on dimethylhydrazine-induced colonic tumors in mice. Cancer Res 1980;40: 1329-1331.
- 108. Bruce WR, McKeown-Eyssen G, Ciampi A, Dion PW, Boyd N. Strategies for dietary intervention studies in colon cancer. Cancer 1981;47: 1121-1125.
- 109. McKeown-Eyssen GE. Dietary approaches to prevention of large bowel cancer. In: Ingall JRF and Mastromarino AJ, eds. Carcinoma of Large Bowel and its Precursors. New York, NY: Alan R Liss, Inc., 1985:277-284.

## CHAPTER 2

# EFFECTS OF DIET TREATMENT ON LIPID COMPOSITION AND PEROXIDE LEVELS OF MUCOSAL CELLS IN THE LARGE INTESTINE

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Dietary fat has been correlated with increased incidence of some forms of cancers including skinb breast, and colon cancers (1-11). Colon cancer is the leading cause of death among all patients with malignancies in the United States. Previous studies have shown that dietary fat influences membrane structure and function (12-20). Other studies have also demonstrated that membranes with a high unsaturation index are more sensitive to peroxidation compared to membranes with a lower unsaturation index (21,22). This susceptibility to peroxidation is also influenced by free radical scavengers and antioxidants such as vitamin E and C, glutathione, and enzymes including superoxide dismutase, catalase, and  $Se^{++}$  and non-Se<sup>++</sup>dependent glutathione peroxidases (23-29). As vitamin E is a membrane soluble antioxidant, interactions with cytosolic antioxidants occur (25,30-35). Lipid peroxides are involved in the regulation of DNA synthesis and cell division (36-38). Lipid peroxides are also thought to be involved in a number of diseases such as cancer and inflammation of the large bowel.

Several studies of mucosal cell membranes from small and large intestines have been performed (20,39-54). However, effect of dietary fat on colonocyte cell membrane lipid composition and peroxidation has not been reported. The objective of this study was first to determine whether or not dietary fat influences colonocyte cell membrane lipid and phospholipid fatty acid composition as observed in other tissues. Secondly, to determine whether or not dietary fat content of un§aturated fatty acids influences colonocyte cell lipid peroxide

levels. Colonocytes were fractionated into "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell populations to determine differences in the lipid . composition between these cell types.

#### B. MATERIAL AND METHODS

### I. ANIMALS AND DIETS

Four weanling-male Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained weekly for an eight week period from the University of Alberta Laboratory Animal Services. Animals were fed rat chow (Allied Mills, Inc., Speciality Feeds Department, Chicago, Ill.) for 3 or 5 days and then fed semi-purified diets (Table 2-1) for 25 days. Each week, four rats were distributed into four groups and fed one of the four diets (total n=8 for each group). Diets and water were supplied ad libitum to rats housed individually in a temperature (22°C) and light controlled room providing 12 hour light and dark periods. Diets were freshly prepared each week and animals fed on alternate days. Food and feed cups were changed at feeding time to avoid possible lipid peroxide intake from old food. The four semi-purified diets were: high fat or low fat with high (P/S=1.2) or low (P/S=0.3) polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratios for each of the high and low fat diets (Table 2-2, figure 2-1). High fat diets provided 50% as energy from fat, while low fat diets provided 15% as energy from fat. Mixtures of safflower oil, hydrogenated beef tallow, and linseed oil were used to provide the dietary fat source. Linseed oil was included to provide the w-3 fatty acid source. Essential nutrient densities for non-fat components were

Fat Level	Hig	gh	Lo	w	·····
P/S Ratio <sup>1</sup>	High	Low	High (g)	Low	Density (g/1000 kcal)
Fat mixture	267.9	266.7	65.3	64.9	55.9/55.6/16.7/16.7
High protein	•			, .	
Casein (vit. free)	292.2	292.7	237.4	237.4	61
Corestarch	81.5	81.6	406.9	406.9	17/17/104.5/104.5
Glucose	225.1	225.5	182.9	182.9	47
Non-nutritive					· · · ·
cellulose	53.19	53.29	42.49	42.89	11.1/11.1/10.9/11.0
Vitamin mix <sup>1</sup>					
(Vit. E free)	11.0	11.0	8.9	8.9	2.3
Mineral mix <sup>3</sup>	55.3	55.4	44.9	44.9	11.55
Choline	4.3	4.3	3.5	3.5	0.9
Inositol	6.7	6.7	5.4	5.4	1.4
L-methionine	2.8	2.8	2.3	2.3	0.6
Dl-a		210	310	2.0	
-tocopheryl acetate	·	45.61	49.35	60.35	17.63
(IU)	· (				(IU/1000  kcal)
Energy (kcal)	4791	47.99	<b>3</b> 893	3893	(10, 1000 Real)

Table 2-1. Composition of Experimental Diets.

P/S, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio.

<sup>3</sup>Vitamin mix provided the following per kilogram of vitamin mixture: vitamin A, 2,000,000 IU; vitamin D, 200,000 IU; menadione, 0.5 g; choline, 200 g; p-aminobenzoic acid, 10 g; inositol, 10 g; niacin, 4 g; d-calcium, pantothenate, 4 g; riboflavin, 0.8 g; thiamin-HCl, 0.5 g; pyridoxine-HCl, 0.5 g; folic acid, 0.2 g; biotin, 0.04 g; and vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, 3.0 g.

<sup>3</sup>Bernhart-Tomarelli mineral mix (Teklad Test Diets, Madison, WI) provided the following per kilogram of mineral mixtures CaCO<sub>3</sub>, 21.0 g; CaHPO<sub>4</sub>, 735 g; MgO, 25.0 g; K<sub>3</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 81.0 g; K<sub>3</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 68.0 g; NaCl, 30.6 g; Na<sub>3</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 21.4 g; cupric citrate, 0.46 g; ferric citrate (16.7% Fe), 5.58 g; manganese citrate (13.9% Mn), 8.35 g; K1, 0.0072 g; zinc citrate, 1.33 g; and citric acid, 2.2728 g.

similar for the four diets on a per calorie basis. Vitamin E levels of the four diets were equalized to the vitamin E content of the high fat, high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio, by addition of d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate to give a final vitamin E density of 17.63 IU/1000 kcal for each diet. Diets were prepared using essentially vitamin-free casein and a vitamin mix free of vitamin E. This vitamin mix has been prepared according to the composition of AOAC vitamin mix

Та	ble	2-2,	Fatty	Acid	Composition	of	Experimental Diets.
----	-----	------	-------	------	-------------	----	---------------------

Fatty Acid		(%, w/w)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	High	Fat	Low	Fat
	High P/S <sup>1</sup>	Low P/S	High P/S	Low P/S
C14:0	2.0	3.5	1.9	3.
Cl4:1	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.
C15:0	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.
C15:1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0,
C16:0	16.5	24.1	16.4	24.
C16:1		. 0.4	0.3	0.
C17:0	0.9	1.7	0.9	1.
C18:0	22.0	41.2	22.4	41.
C18:1(9)	8.2	4.7	. 8.3	4
C18:2(6)	47.3	20.6	44.6	17
C18:3(6)	. 0.1	0.3.,	0.1	0.
C18:3(3)	1.4	1.5	4.2	4
C20:0	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.
C20:2(6)	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.
C22:0	- 0.1	0.1	ND	N
C22:5(3)	0.1	0.2	0.1	0
C22:6(3)	0.1	ND <sup>4</sup>	0.1	NI
Σsats <sup>1</sup>	42.1	71.6	42.0	7.2
Σmonounsats <sup>1</sup>	8.7	5.6	8.8	
Σpolyunsats <sup>1</sup>	49.2	22.8	49.2	22.
$\Sigma(w-6)^1$	47.6	21.1	44.8	17.
$\Sigma(W-3)^{1+2}$	1.6	1.7	4.4	4
P/S <sup>3</sup>	$1.17 \pm 0.05$	$0.32 \pm 0.01$	$1.17 \pm 0.03$	$0.31 \pm 0.0$

<sup>1</sup>Abbreviations used are: P/S = polymosaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio, zsats = total saturated fatty acids, zmonounsats is total monounsaturated fatty acids, zpolyunsats = total polyunsaturated fatty acids, z(w-3) = total (w-3) fatty acids.

61

<sup>2</sup>Densities (g/1000 kcal) of (w-3) fatte acids are similar for the four experimental diets.

<sup>3</sup>P/S, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio; values are means  $\pm$  SD of 11 freshly prepared diets.

<sup>4</sup>ND, not detected.

ð



Figure 2-1. Fatty acid composition of diets

Four diets, high fat (50% as energy) and low fa (15% as energy) with high P/S (1.2) or low P/S (0.3) ratio, were fed to rats for 25 days. Safflower oil and hydrogenated beef tallow were used as fat source; linseed oil was added to provide w-3 fatty acid. The diets with similar for evels differed in the amounts of saturated (primarily  $C_1$  and w-6 (primarily  $C_{18:2(6)}$ ). fatty acids.

(Teklad Test Diets, Madison, WI). Animals were weighed at delivery and at the beginning of dietary treatment then weekly, and at the time of killing. Rats were sacrificed by decapitation and their large intestine removed for mucosal cell isolation. Blood was collected into non-heparinized glass test tubes, and protected from light for serum vitamin E determination. Tubes were kept in the dark at room temperature for 30 minutes before being centrifuged at 500 g for 15 minutes at 10-15°C. The supernatants were collected (serum) and stored at -20°C (in the dark) until used.

#### II. CELL ISOLATION

1

The cell isolation procedure used has been adapted from methods described by Brasitus (55) and Weiser (49). The solutions used were: cold saline solution; solution A containing HCl (1.5 mM), NaCl (96.0 mM), sodium citrate (27.0 mM),  $KH_2PO_4$  (8.0 mM),  $Na_2HPO_4$  (5.6 mM), dithiothreitol (0.5 mM), pH 7.3; solution \*B consisting of Ca<sup>++</sup> and Mg<sup>++</sup> Free Hank's buffer containing triethanolamine-HCl (10.0 mM) and dithiothreitol (0.5 mM), pH 7.3; and standard buffer containing NaCl (139 mM),  $Na_2HPO_4$  (10 mM), pH 7.3.

To eliminate gut bacterial contamination; solution A and B as wellas cold saline solution were supplemented with Penicillin-G (k-salt, 660 U/ml) and streptomycin (1.6 mg/ml). Solution B was also supplemented with mycostatin (118.2 U/ml); phenylmethanesulphonyl fluoride (PMSF, 0.1 mM) was added to solution A and B just before use as were antibiotics to solution A. Ca<sup>++</sup> and Mg<sup>++</sup> Free Hank's buffer and antibiotics were only stable for one to two weeks, therefore solutions were freshly prepared each week, except for solution A which

41

<u>й</u>,

was prepared as a stock solution for the whole experiment. All solutions were kept at 4°C in the dark to avoid antibiotic degradation.

The large intestine was excised, feces delicately removed by means of cold saline solution and flushed 3 times with 40 ml of the same cold safine solution. This tube was then tied at its proximal end, filled with solution A and closed at its other end with a hemostat. This slightly distended sac was placed in a 250 ml flask containing 125 ml of standard buffer solution (37°C), and incubated for 15 minutes at 37°C in a metabolic shaker waterbath (75 osc./min). The sac was then emptied, the solution discarded and replaced by solution B (pre-incubated at 37°C), and incubated. After each incubation, the solution was collected in a'15 ml Corex glass centrifuge tube and the sac refilled. Incubation times were 2 times 10 minutes followed by 10 times 15 minutes. The tubes (total=12) were kept on ice until centrifuged at 2000 rpm (484 g) at 4°C for 10 minutes in a Beckman model J2-21 centrifuge. Supernatants were discarded and pellets resuspended in 5 ml of standard buffer. At this stage, fractions 2 and 3, 4 and 5, and 6 and 7, as well as fractions 9 and 10, and 11 and 12 were pooled to give fractions I, II, III, IV, and V, respectively. These five tubes were centrifuged at 2000 rpm (484 g) at 4°C for 10 minutes. Supernatants were discarded, pellets I to III resuspended in standard buffer, filtered on 100 micrometer nylon mesh filter (Nitex) and pooled (A); fractions IV and V underwent the same process (B). Resuspending volume after filtration was 12 ml for both fractions (A) and (B). These two tubes were centrifuged at 2000 rpm (484 g) at 4°C for 10 minutes, supernatants discarded and pellets resuspended in 1 ml of standard buffer. Cell suspensions were homogenized by means of a

42

A

1/2" long #26 Gauge syringe needle. A similar process was conducted for sample #8 to get the protein released in this fraction. Aliquots for protein determination and 100  $\mu$ l for thymidine kinase activity measurements were kept. The remainder to be used for lipid and lipid peroxide analysis was frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage. All tubes we kept at -70°C until used. The whole cell isolation procedure took 4 1/2 hours. Protein was determined by a modified method of Lowry (56) using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard.

43

## III. <sup>3</sup>H-THYMIDINE INCORPORATION

1

Preliminary experiments were performed to determine fractions containing proliferative cells using  $2-Me^{-3}H$ -thymidine as a marker for DNA synthesis. Rats weighing 300-305 g were injected intraperitoneally 100  $\mu$ Ci (55) of 2-Me-<sup>3</sup>H-thymidine 3 hours prior to sacrifice (49). Rats were killed by decapitation and cells isolated as previously described. However, fractions were filtered after the first centrifugation, and transferred by 3 times 1 ml of standard buffer into flint tubes (10mm x 75mm) after the second centrifugation. The cell fractions were not pooled. Flint tubes were centrifuged at 2000 rpm (484 g) at 4°C for 10 minutes, supernatants discarded and pellets resuspended at a volume of 500  $\mu l$  with standard buffer. Cell fractions were homogenized with a 1/2" long #26 Gauge syringe needle and aliquots were taken for protein determination. After addition of 2 ml of cold 10% (w/v) TCA, containing 1 mg thymidine/4 ml, tubes were vortexed and kept overnight in the fridge (4°C). Tubes were then centrifuged at 5000 rpm (3020 g) at 4°C for 15 minutes, and supernatants discarded. Pellets were dissolved in 500 µl of Protosol, transferred by 3 times 2

ml of toluene base scintillation cocktail (100mg POPOP, 5g PPO per litre of toluene) into 7 ml counting vials, and counted for  ${}^{3}$ H-thymidine incorporation. Counting was performed in a Beckman LS 5801 liquid scintillation system with an efficiency of 45%. Results were expressed as dpm/mg protein.

#### IV. THYMIDINE KINASE ASSAY

2

ŧ.

To differentiate "proliferative" from "non-proliferative" cells during the main experiment, thymidine kinase activity has been measured according to the method of Salser and Ballis (57). Reactions were carried out at  $37^{\circ}$ C in capped flint tubes (10mm x 75mm) in a. waterbath. The reaction mixture containing 90-110  $\mu$ g of homogenate protein (100 µl volume; adjusted if necessary by using cell resuspending standard buffer, pH 7.3), 12  $\mu$ mol Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 1.8 µmol MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.8 µmol ATP, 1.5 µmol 3-phosphoglyceric acid, and 0.6 pmol NaF was pre-incubated for 10 minutes at 37°C. Reactions were initiated by addition of 50  $\mu$ l of deoxythymidine-2-<sup>14</sup>C (9 nmoles; 500,000 dpm), bringing the total volume to 250 µl, and incubated for 45 minutes. Reactions were stopped by immersing the tubes into boiling water for 3 minutes and then cooled in an ice bath until centrifuged (3020 g) at 10°C for 15 minutes. Aliquots (50  $\mu$ l) were applied onto DEAE-cellulose filters (Whatman No. DE-81; 2cm diam.) and filters washed according to the method described by Bresnick and Karjala (58). The filters were quickly immersed in a beaker containing 30 ml of 0.001 M ammonium formate for 10 minutes. The discs were then washed in distilled H<sub>2</sub>O and placed in a new beaker containing 30 ml of 0.001 M ammonium formate for 10 minutes. The discs were again washed with

distilled water, placed in distilled water for 5 minutes and finally immersed in 95% (v/v) ethanol before being dried at 80°C and placed in counting vials containing 5 ml of a toluene-based cocktail (5g PPO, 100mg POPOP per liter of toluene). This procedure removes the precursor deoxythymidine- $2^{-14}$ C while retaining deoxythymidinemonophosphate-<sup>14</sup>C. Counting was performed in a Beckman LS 5801 liquid \$\$ scintillation system with an efficiency of 97%.

## V. LIPID EXTRACTION

Cell lipids were extracted using a modified Folch procedure (59). Extractions were carried out in borosilicate glass test tubes (16mm x 125mm) and each of the solvents contained the antioxidant ethoxyquin (1 Methanol (0.8 ml) was added to 650-800  $\mu l$  of cell homogenate µg/l). and the tubes vortexed for 20 seconds, 2 ml of chloroform-methanol (1:1, v/v) were then added, the tubes vortexed 20 seconds and 2.5 m] of chloroform-methanol (2:1, v/v) added before vortexing again for 20 Finally, 0.1 M KCl was added to make a 20% (v/v) aqueous second: solution and the tubes kept at get for 1 hour. The lower phase was collected with a Pasteur pipette and transferred into a clean borosilicate glass test tube (13mm x 100mm). Lipids were re-extracted with 2.5 ml of chloroform, tubes vortexed for 20 seconds kept at 4°C for 30 minutes and the lower phase collected and added to the first extract. Chloroform was removed at 40°C under vacuum (Model RH 12-29 Speed Vac Concentrator Centrifuge; Savant Instruments Inc., Ont.) for 3 hours, the lipids resuspended in hexane, then transferred to 1.8 ml vials with teflon lined caps and stored at -70°C until used for lipid analysis.

#### VI. SEPARATION OF LIPIDS

Phospholipids were separated using the method of Touchstone et al. (60). Silica gel H plates (Analtech Silica Gel G, 20cm x 20cm, 250 microns; Analtech Inc., Newark, DE 1971) were activated at 110°C for 1 hour. Plates were then spotted with 50  $\mu$ l of lipid extract and developed for 90 minutes in a tank containing 166 ml of chloroform: methanol: 2-propanol: 0.25% (w/v) KCl: triethylamine (30:9:25:6:18, by vol). Plates were air dried , sprayed with 0.03% 2,7-dichlorofluoroscein in 0.01 N NaOH and phospholipids visualized under U.V. light. The spots were scraped into methylation tubes for fatty acid analysis.

#### VII. FATTY ACID ANALYSIS

Fatty acids were methylated using the boron-trifluoride (BF<sub>3</sub>) technique of Metcalfe and Schmidtz (61). Distilled hexane (1 ml) and 1 ml of  $BF_3$ -methanol (14%, w/w) reagent were added to methylation tubes containing the phospholipids. The tubes were tightly capped and heated in a sand bath set at 100-110°C for 1 hour. Tubes containing the sphingomyelin were heated for 90 minutes. After the samples cooled (5 minutes), 1 ml of distilled H<sub>2</sub>O was added, the tubes were vortexed for 30 seconds and left to stand for 20 minutes at room temperature. The hexane layer was transferred into 1.8 ml vials and fatty acid methyl esters re-extracted with 1 ml of distilled hexane. The second extracts were also added to the 1.8 ml vials. Methyl-esters were dried at 40°C under vacuum (Model RH 12-29 Speed Vac Concentrator Centrifuge; Savant Instruments Inc, Ont.) then the vials were flushed with  $N_2$ , capped with teflon lined caps and stored at -70°C until analysis by

Υ.

capillary gas liquid chromatography.

Fatty acid methyl-esters were analyzed according to a method described by Hargreaves and Clandinin (62). Fatty acid methyl-ester separation was performed by automated gas-liquid chromotography (Vista 6000 GLC and Vista 654 data system; Varian Instruments, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada) using a fused silica BP20 capillary column (25m x 0.25mm i.d.; Varian, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada). Helium was used as the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1.8 ml/min using a splitless injection mode. Injector and detector temperatures were maintained at 250°C. The initial oven temperature of 90°C was increased to 172°C at 20C deg/min and held for 13.2 minutes, then increased again to 220°C at 3.5C deg/min for a total analysis of 45 min. Authering c standard mixtures of fatty acid methyl esters were injected to identify fatty acid methyl ester peaks.

### VIII. TOTAL CHOLESTEROL ANALYSIS

Total cholesterol was determined according to the methods of Siedel et al. (63), Stahler et al. (64), and Trinder (65), using an Azimatic kit (Cholesterol C-system kit, Boehringer Mannheim gmbH Signostica). An aliquot of 50  $\mu$ l of lipid sample (5-10  $\mu$ g cholesterol) was transferred into a borosilicate glass test tube (13mm x 100mm) and dried under nitrogen. To the residue, resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l of iso-propanol, were added 950  $\mu$ l of cholesterol C-system reagent (Tris buffer: 100 mmol/l pH 7.7; magnesium aspartate: 50 mmol/l; 4 aminophenazone: 1 mmol/l; sodium cholate: 10 mmol/l; phenol: 6 mmol/l; 3i4-dichlorophenol: 4 mmol/l; hydroxypolyethoxy-n-alkanes: 0<sup>°</sup>.3%; , cholesterol esterase > 0.4 U/ml; cholesterol oxidase > 0.25 U/ml;

47

peroxidase > 0.2 U/ml). The reaction mixture was vortexed, incubated 20 minutes at room temperature, and sample absorbance read at 500 nm against a reagent blank. Cholesterol concentrations were determined using a calibration curve (0-40  $\mu$ g cholesterol) and results as  $\mu$ g total cholesterol per mg of protein.

### IX. TOTAL AND RELATIVE PERCENTAGE OF PHOSPHOLIPIDS

#### a) Total Phospholipids

Total phospholipids were determined using a modified method described by Raheja et al. (66). To 50  $\mu$ l of lipid sample, dried down under  $N_2$  in borosilicate glass test tubes (13mm x 100mm), were added 0.4 ml of chloroform and 0.1 ml of chromogenic solution. The tubes were placed in a sand bath at 100°C for 1 minute and cooled to room temperature. Chloroform (1 ml) was added to each tube and absorbance at #10 nm was determined using a Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 21 🌣 spectrophotometer. The blank contained everything except lipids and concentrations were calculated using sphingomyelin as a standard. The chromogenic reagent was prepared as follows: 4 g of ammonium molybdate were dissolved in 30 ml of distilled  $H_20$  to give solution I. To 10 ml of concentrated HCl were added 2.5 ml of mercury and 20 ml of solution I to give solution II. To the remainder of solution I were carefully added 50 ml of  $H_2SO_4$  as well as solution II to give the chromogenic stock solution. Finally, 5 ml of chromogenic stock solution, 9 ml of methanol, 1 ml of chloroform and 4 ml of distilled  $H_20$  were mixed to give the working chromogenic solution.

b) Relative Percentage of Phospholipids

The relative percentage of total phospholipids were determined using a densitometry method described by Gassbaro (67). Samples (9.9 or 13.2 إلى derived from 100-180 إلى 13.2 derived from 100-180 of cell protein) were spotted on high performance thin layer chromotography plates (Whatman, HP-K high performance silica gel plates, 10cm x 10cm). The plates were allowed to develop for approximatly 40 minutes (up to 1 cm of the top of the plate) in small development tanks containing 42 ml of chloroform: methanol: 2-propanol: triethylamine: 0.25% (w/v) KCl (15:4.5:12.5: 6.5:3.5, by vol). The plates were air dried and stained carefully by immersing them in Touchstone solution, blotted with #1 Whatman filter paper and charred at 200°C for 10-15 minutes (phospholipids are brown bands on white background) before scanning them on a Beckman Appraise densitometer. The Touchstone cupric acetate stain was prepared as follows: 3 g of cupric acetate were dissolved in 8 ml of 85%phosphoric acid and 50 ml of deionized  $H_20$ ; once dissolved, the volume was brought to 100 ml with deionized  $H_2O$ . This stain is very stable and can be prepared in bulk to be stored at room temperature.

## X. LIPID PEROXIDE DETERMINATION

Lipid peroxides were determined using the new assay kit "Determiner LPO" (Kyowa medics Co., 'Tokyo, Japan) with some modifications to increase test sensitivity. Tests were performed in borosilicate glass test tubes (13mm x 100mm). To 100  $\mu$ l of lipid extract (1.0-1.5 mg protein equivalent) in methanol were added 150  $\mu$ l of the first reagent (30 U/ml of ascorbic oxidase, Good buffer - 100 mM MOPS = 3-[N-morpholino]propanesulfonic acid pH 5.8, stabilizer); tubes were vortexed and incubated 5 minutes at 30°C in a shaking water bath

before adding 300  $\mu$ l of the second reagent (52.7 M of MCDP = 10N-methyl-carbamoyl-3,7-dimethylamine-10H-phenothiazine, Good buffer -100 mM MOPS pH 5.8, 68 mg/l of hemoglobin, surface active reagent, chelating agent and stabilizer), vortexing and incubating for 10 more Absorbance was determined at 675 nm in a Perkin-Elmer model minutes. Lambda 3b spectrophotometer. Sample concentrations were calculated using a standard curve in the range of 0-1.0 nmole of cumen hydroperoxide. Blank absorbance changing with time, all sample absorbancies were determined against water. The test was performed in a dark room with red light; lipid peroxide determination was performed on batches of one blank and five samples starting the reaction in each, tube at 1 minute intervals. (FTD

XI. VITAMIN E DETERMINATIONa) Diet

Oil samples for vitamin E determination have been prepared using a method described by Carpenter, Jr. (68). Safflower oil (5 g) and 1 g o efflower oil supplemented with dealpha-tocopheryl acetate were dissolve n 100 ml volumetric flasks with distilled hexane and hrought to volue . 100 µl of these solutions were injected onto the HPLC column.

b) Serum

Serv samples were prepared using a slight modification of the sim d clarification method described by Nierenberg and Lester (09). To 500  $\mu$ l of thawed serum transferred to 1.5 ml polypropylene microcentrifuge tubes were added 50  $\mu$ l of d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate

 $\beta_{2}$ 

50

Co

(100 µg/ml) in ethanol and 50 الم of 0,125% (w/v) BHT in ethanol to give the internal standard and initiate protein precipitation. After vortexing for 15 seconds, 300  $\mu$ l of 0.025% (w/v) of butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) in butanol-ethyl acetate (1:1, v/v) were added and texed for 60 seconds. An aqueous solution (150  $\mu$ l) of K\_2HPO4 tut (1 g/m) was added before vortexing for 30 seconds and centrifuging in a MSE microcentrifuge at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute at 4°C. The organic upper layer (250  $\mu$ l) was transferred by automatic pipette into a borosilicate glass test tube (10mm x 75mm), and dried in 5 to 10 minutes at 75°C under N<sub>2</sub>. No loss occurred during this process as checked with a standard mixture of dl-alpha-tocopherol and d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate. The residue was resuspended in 250 إس of distilled hexane transferred to a 0.4 ml polypropylene microcentrifuge tube and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute at 4°C. The clarified distilled hexane (100  $\mu$ ]) was injected onto the HPLC column.

8)

1

Tocopherols were analyzed using a method described by Buttris and Diplock (70). Dl-alpha-tocopherol and d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate determination was performed by HPLC chromatography (5500 LC and Vista 402 data system, Varian Instruments, Georgetown, Ontario, Canada), using a Micropack Si-5 column (4.5mm i.d' x 15cm length). Absorbance was determined using an ultraviolet absorption detector set at 294 nm. The mobile phase was 8% (v/v) HPLC grade methyl t-butyl ether in distilled hexane at a flow rate of 2 ml/minute. Solvents were filtered and detassed by N<sub>2</sub> prior use. The system was standardized by injection of 100  $\mu$ l mixture containing 50  $\mu$ g/ml of dl-alpha- tocopherol (Sigma Chemical Co., St.Louis, MO, USA) and d-alpha- tocopheryl acetate (Veris, La Grange, Ill., USA) in hexane after being checked for

linearity in the range of 5-100  $\mu$ g/ml. (See appendix 2).

#### XII. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Before analyzing for effect of diet treatment and differences. between cell populations, effect of day was examined by two way analysis of variance considering the 16 days of experimentation as 16 , blocks. If no block effect was observed, the effect of diet treatment and differ $\epsilon$  res between "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell fractions were examined by Least Square ANOVA. The program was conceived for unbalanced data; however, the mean values reported in this thesis are the observed ones, and not the corrected ones. Effect of diet treatment on total protein released, serum vitamin E concentrations, and lipid peroxide levels were examined by two way analysis of variance procedures after analysis for block effect. <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine incorporation into DNA of "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cells was analyzed by a Student's t-test (71).

• EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON BODY WEIGHT

The mean body weights of animals between groups prior to or after diet treatments were not significantly different. Due to the difficulty of obtaining rats at a given weight every week , there was a significant difference (p<0.002) in mean body weight from one delivered batch to another at initiation of treatments . The overall mean body weights (mean $\pm$ SD) were 77.6  $\pm$  4.5 g (n=29) and 252.7  $\pm$  20.8 (n=29) at

RESULT

initiation of treatments and at the time of sacrifice, respectively. No significant difference in weight gain was observed during the period of diet treatments when considering the effects of week and day of experiments, fat level or polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acidratio.

# II. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON MUCOSAL CELL ISOLATION AND THYMIDINE KINASE ACTIVITY

Prior to initiation of experimental procedure, rats fed rat chow were injected with <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine to localize "proliferative" cell versus "non-proliferative" cell fractions. As a first step, a few experiments were performed without pooling the collected fractions (data not shown). From these preliminary experiments, fractions #2-7 and #9-12 were pooled and considered as "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell fractions respectively. Two more experiments were performed showing a <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine count of  $3050 \pm 107$  dpm/mg protein (mean±SD) and 7550 ± 255 dpm/mg protein for "non-proliferative and "proliferative" cell fractions, respectively (Table 2-3). These values were significantly different (p<0.002) as determined by Student's t-test.

#### a) Cell Isolation

Cell recovery, when expressing the results as mg of protein, was not affected by day of experimentation. Diet fatty acid composition, but not diet fat level, had a highly significant effect (p<0.005) on cell isolation (Table 2-4).

The mean percentage of protein, whatever the diet treatment, distributed between "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell

Table 2=3.	<sup>3</sup> H-thymidine	incorporation	into	DNA	of	mucosal	cells	from	the rat	large	
	intestine.	÷.			-						

and the second		÷,			
Cell Fraction	dpm/mg protein	Total protein (µg)	Protein (%, w/w)		
Non-proliferative <sup>1</sup>	$3050 \pm 107^{3}$	$5740 \pm 1230$	51.1 ± 3.04		
Proliferative'	7550 ± 257	5390 ± 523	$48.9 \pm 3.0$		
Fractions #2-12		11100 ± 1750	100.0		

Student's t-test: Difference of 'H-thymidine incorporation between "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell fractions was significant at p < 0.002.

Represents pooled fractions #2-7.

<sup>2</sup>Represents pooled fractions #9-12.

'Values are means  $\pm$  SD.

*,*4

ŧ

\*Total and percentage of protein calculated from fractions #2-8.

Table 2-4. Effect of diet treatment on mucosal cell released from the rat large intestine (total  $\mu$ g of protein<sup>1</sup>).

Fat Level	Hig	gh	Lo	o₩	Effec	ct of Treatm	nent <sup>3</sup>
P/S Ratio?	High	Low	High	Low	Fat Level	P/S Ratio	' Int
	4780	8890	* 6120	8050	NS	Q.005	NS
	±1440	±2660	_±1220	± 3270			
. 4	(n=7)	(n=6)	(n=5)	(n=6)			

"Sum of protein (mg) from "non-proliferative" cells (pooled fractions #2-7), "proliferative" cells (pooled fractions #9-12) and fraction #8.

<sup>2</sup>P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio.

Significant effects (p <) by two-way analysis of variance procedures are indicated. Int, interaction between effects of fat level and polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio; NS, not significantly different.

fractions was 34.26% and 65.74%, respectively. Fat level and polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio in the diet had no effect on percent of protein released when considering both fractions independently (Table 2-5).

## b) Thymidine Kinase Activity

Linearity between time and product formed has been observed up to 45 minutes (data not shown). No effect of experimental day or diet treatment on thy dine kinase activity was observed. Enzyme specific activity was 41.1% higher (p<0.05) in the "proliferative" cell fraction compared to the "non-proliferative" cell population (Table 2-6). A significant interaction (p<0.05) between effects of cell fraction and polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio was observed.

 $\mathcal{Q}_{1}$ 

III. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON LIPID COMPOSITION OF MUCOSAL CELLS

Experimental day, amount of fat or polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid diet ratio did not affect mucosal cell total cholesterol content (nmol/mg protein). The "non-proliferative" cell population exhibited a 12% higher total cholesterol level compared to the "proliferative" cell fraction (p<0.05; Table 2-7).

Day of experiment, fat level, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio in the diet, or cell fraction tested did not significantly affect the total phospholipid content of mucosal cells in the large intestine (Table 2-7). There was, however, a significant interaction (p<0.05) between the effect of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid diet ratio and cell fraction isolated.

Cholesterol to phospholipid ratio (nmol/nmol) was not affected by

National Library of Canada Canadian Theses Service

#### NOTICE -

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the thesis submitted for microfilming. . . .

Please refer to the National Library of Canada target (sheet 1, frame 2) entitled:

......

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité. de la thèse soumise au microfilmage.

Veuillez consulter la cible de la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada (microfiche 1, image 2) intitulee:

#### NOTICE

#### Bibliothèque nationale du Ĉanada

5

Service des thèses canadiennes

AVIS

#### AVIS
Table 2.5 Yield of "non-prohificiative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells from the rat large intestine (%, w/w of protein'). 2

Fat Level		• High	42			worl		
P/S Ratio	High		I.ow		High		Low	
Cell Fraction	Non-Prolif.	Prolif.	Non-Prelif.	Prolif.	Non Prohf.	Prolif.	Non - Prolif	Prolif.
ž	35.4±1.7*	64.6±7.7	31.2±4.6	68.8±4.6	34.0±7.0	6, 0±7,0	36.5±7.5	631547.5
ŗu.	٢	Ĺ	Q	Ŷ	У.	د	9	1 6

~

Percentage of protein in each fraction calculated from a total protein (100%) = protein from ("non-proliferative" cells + "proliferative cells" + fraction #8); percentage of protein in "non-proliferative" cells includes fraction #8. Abbreviations used: P/S Ratio, polyursaturated to saturated fatty acid diet ration in number of replicates.

 $^{0}$ Non Proht = "non" prohtferative" cell fraction. Proht= "prohtferative" cell fraction.

Values are means ± SD, no statistical analysis performed.

Ş

61

Table 2 6. Effect of diet treatment on thymidine kinase activity of mucosal cells from the rat large intestine.

.

4

ł,

Fat Level		High				Low		
P/S Ratio <sup>1</sup>	High		Nou		High	•	Low	
Cell Fraction	Non-Prolif. <sup>1</sup>	Prohf.	Non-Prolif.	Prolif.	Non Prolif	Prolif.	Non-Prolif.	Prolif
Specific Activity (nmole/mg protein <sup>1</sup> )	j.2±1.2'	4.1±0.9	3.2±0.4	5.4±2.5	3.2±1.3	2.5±1.1	2.1±1.2	4 5±1.8
& Activity.	43±12	<i>51</i> ±12	40±12	60±12	5(±15	. 44±15	40±15	\$1709
Ē	<b>у</b>	9	s S	Ş		, <b>2</b>	<b>9</b>	ر معن ا
'Abbreviations used are:-P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio; n, mumber of replicates. 'Non-Prolif. = "nonsproliferative" cell fraction; Prolif. = "proliferative" celis.fraction.	'S Ratio, polyunsaturated ti ferative" cell fraction; Proi	o saturated fatty acid ratio; n, mu if. = "proliferative" celi.fraction.	l ratio; n, number of cefi.fraction.	replicates.				
Values are means ± SD					- ,		<b>.</b>	
S AGLIVILY WILD 2 ( NON DEGINE CEILS + DEGINE CEILS HIPTINGINE KINASE AGLIVILY = LUVA	STOLLETALIVE CENS + PLON	lerative cents) unym	ndine Kinase acuvuy	= 100%.				

<sup>1</sup>Effect of treatment on thymidine kinase specific activity was determined by least square analysis of variance procedures. Significant differences between cell fractions (p<0.05), as well as an interaction between effects of dictary P/S ratio and cell fractions (p<0.05) were observed. No significant effect of fat level, P/S ratio, or other interactions were identified. •

,

\*

v

5<sup>′</sup>7

>

Į

3

৽৽

\$

Fat P/S Level Level Ratio Ratio Fal P/S - Cell Cell Cell Cell Cell Ē SS NS Ϋ́ς Fr. SS <u>.</u>05 NS Effect of Treatment' Ľ. ž NS Sz Fat P/S P/S Cell Level Ratio Ratio Fr. SN SN .05 Fat Level SZ. SN SS Table 2-7. Effact of diet treatment on total cholesterol, total phospholipids, and cholesterol to phospholipid ratio of mucosal cells from the rat large intestine. SN SZ 03 Significant effects by least square analysis of variance procedures are indicated (FC); Cell Fr., cell fraction; \*, interaction; NS, included different SS SS SS , 61.0±9.4 0.43±0.05 Prolif. 142±9 9 c • ç Low Non Prolif 66.4115.96 0 4240.12 96146 ¢. 60.9±14.5 0.59±0.14 106±26 Prohf. 6 Ś v~. Abbreviations used are: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio, n, number of replicates. High Non-Prolif. . 68.9±14.5 0.50±0.10 142 ± 4() Non Prohf. cells = "non-prohferative" cell fraction; Prohf. cells = "prohferative" cell fraction. Ś. ý, ŝ 59.1±7.3  $0.36\pm0.08$ 171±34 Prolif. ė 9 9 l.ow . F 64.4±12.8 Non-Frolif 0.45±0.11 150±47 ૭ Ś \$ High 0.60±0.37 60.1±7.1 122 + 48 Prolif. "Cholesterol Mw. ~ 386.7; Phospholipids Mw. = 730. High Non-Prolif. Cholesterol/Phospholipids (nmole/nmole) 70.3±11.1 0.51±0.14\* 147±40' į n' Phospholipids (nmole/mg prolein)' 14744 **9** Cholesterol (nmole/mg protein)\* 'Values are means + SD Cell Fraction P/S Ratio<sup>1</sup> Fat Level , 2 r

3.

day of cell isolation or fat level. Cell' fractions, "non-proliferative" and "proliferative", exhibited similar ratios of cholesterol to phospholipid. Groups fed diets providing a high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio (P/S=1.2) showed a 32.5% increase (p<0.05) in cholesterol to "phospholipid ratio compared to groups fed diets containing a low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio (P/S=0.3); (Table 2-7).

Main phospholipid classes observed were phosphatidylethanolamine and phosphatidylcholine representing greater than 50% and 22% of total. mucosal cell phospholipid, respectively (Table 2-8). Minor phospholipids consisted of phosphatidylinositol, phosphatidic acid plus phosphatidylserine, and spingomyelin representing more than 6%, 5%, and 5% of total mucosal cell phospholipid, respectively. Mucosal "proliferative" cells exhibited а 44.9% greater content of sphingomyelin (p<0.05)</pre> compared to the "non-proliferative" cell population. Interactions between the effect of fat level and cell fraction (p<0.05). and between the effect of diet fatty acid composition and cell fraction (p<0.005) on sphingomyelin content were Phosphatidylcholine content of total phospholipids in the observed. "proliferative" cell fraction was 20.8% lower (p<0.05) compared to the "non-proliferative" cell population. Interactions between the effect of diet fatty acid composition and cell fraction (p<0.05) for phosphatidylcholine, and between the effect of fat level and diet fatty acid composition (p<0.01) for phosphatidylinositol were observed.

Phospholipid content, expressed as mg per mg of protein, showed significant differences (p<0.05) between cell fractions for phosphatidylcholine and phophatidylinositol (Table 2-9). Mucosal cell

59

े. हथे.

. ::  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{C}} = \left\{ f_{\mathcal{C}} = - \left\{ f_{\mathcal{C}} = - f_{\mathcal{C}} \right\} \right\} = \left\{ f_{\mathcal{C}} = - f_{\mathcal{C}} \right\} = \left\{ f_{\mathcal{C}} = - f_{\mathcal{C}} \right\}$ 

ю.

Table 2.8. Effect of diet treatment on relative percentage of total phospholipid of "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells from the rat large intestine.

Ċ

¥

<b>,</b>		• • •					- - - -	-							
			3. 194	Phospholip	Phospholipids (%, w/w)					ECC	Effect of Treatment	Trcatr	, Juou	Ear	
Fat Level	· .	<b></b> ,,	lligh		• •	 ,	, ow		•		Fat Level	<u>د</u> ۲	Fat P. Level Ra	Fat P/S Level Level Ratio	. – –
P/S Ralio'	H	High	Γζ	Low	E	lligh	- T.	MO.	, Lat	- 3/4	ر مرط	۰ روال روال	. I-U	•	-
Cell 7-raction	Non-Prolif. <sup>1</sup>	Prolif.	Non-Prolif.	Prolif.	Non Prolif	Prohl	Non Polif.	Prolif.	Level	Level Ratio Ratio Fr.	tatio I				•
Sphingomyelin							-			1			1		
Phosofiatidy/choline	3.8±0.5	8.7±4.8	4.5±0.6	6.7±3.3	5.2±0.8	5.4±3.0	6,1±2.0	1.6±3.1	NS	Sz	Sz	<u>.</u>	<0 50	SZ.	
	32.7±4.6	32.7±4.6 26.4±11.3	31.6±5.3	27.3±7.8	28.743.2	16.2±7.2	28.3±4.4	26.2±8.5	SN	SN	NS	.05 N	NS - 115	SN NS	
Physphatidic acid + Phosphatidylserine	sphatidylserine														
	6.8±0.9	5.8±4.8	8 275 3	5.5±3.9	4.9+2.1	8.6±3.1	5.3±0.6	7.2±3.9	SN	SZ .	NS N	NS NS	S NS	SN S	
PhosphatidyIncettol			•••												
	. 8.4±1.7	4.4±2.4	10.0±3.4	8.9±2.3	\$ 176.8	8.7±1.1	8.1+3.2	7.2±1.5	SN	SN	10	NS NS	SZ SS	NS NS	
Physphatidylethanolamine	•	•.	ů												
•	48.2±4.2	53.4±3.6	49.1±5.6	51.6±9.3	52 4±5.0	61.0±7.0	57.744.6	51.8±9.7	SZ.	SZ	NS N	NS NS	SN SS	SN	
n <sup>t</sup>	3	4	S	9	4		~:	ę.							

i.

1 ব

|`x |

'Abhreviations used: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio; n , number of replicates

\*Non\*Prolif, cells'= "non-proliferative" cell fraction; Prolif cells = ""proliferative" cell fraction

'V alues are means ± SD.

 $\circ$  i substitution of fraction;  $\bullet$ , interaction, NS, not significantly different significantly different

¢, ♥♥ 	P/S	Level Level Ratio	o Ratio Fr. Fr. Fr. Fr.	NS NS NS NS	NS OS NOT NS NS	NS NS NS NS	NS NS NS NS	SN SN SN SN SN			•			u.		
intestine			Level Ratio	50: SN	NS NS	SN SN	NS NS	SN SN		s.			•	antly differer		
, the rat large		r.	Prolif.	8.1±3.8	27.0±9.7	7.6±4.6	6.7±2.0	52.9±10.6	103±13	ۍ ۲	• 9		• •	S, not signific		
cosal cells from		Low	Non-Prolif.	7.2±2.8	32.545.8	6.2±1.5	9.1±3.0	60.4 <u>+</u> 16.1	10133	y S	Ē,		•	, interaction; NS, not significantly different	•	
olif crative " mu	- I ow	4	Prohf.	4.1±2.8	12 5±6.6	6.6±3.0	6.1±2.0	46,9±13.2	11±19	· ·	<b>s</b> .	cates.	-	cell fraction; •	•	
rative and "pr	Phospholipids (µg/mg protein)	High	Non Prolif.	5.8±2.4	31.2±8.6	4 0 F 1 J	1.5±2 P	\$7 7±19.2	144±29	<b>.</b>	4	number of repl e" cell fraction	·	icated $(p < )$ ; Cell Fr., cell fraction;		
of "non prolife	Phospholipids (	Low	Prolif	8.2±4.5	33.1±9 2	6.1±3 4	11.3±4.6	65.8±21.5	125±25	9	ę	acid ratio; n . = "proliferativ		are indicated (		
holipid content	High	ΓC	Non-Prolif.	4.8±2.0	31.1±12.0	<b>5.5±3.1</b>	9,8±1.3	50.0±21.4	109±35	<b>.</b>	•	saturated fatty on; Prolif cells		ance procedures		
ment on phosp	Ŧ	gh.	Prolif. <sup>1</sup>	6.2±2.7	20.1±15.0 rine	3.6±3.8	5.4±6.6	48.0±25.9	91±38	9	4	/unsaturated.to tive <sup>-</sup> cell fracti		analysis of varia		
Hifect of diet treatment on phospholipid content of "non prohiferative" and "prohiferative" mucroal cells from the rat large intestine		lligh.	Non-Prolif."	3.5±1.0'	30.6±12.4 Phoenharidvise	6.4±2.7	7.5±1.4	44.7±15.0	107±29	Ŷ	<b>£</b>	P/S Ratio, poly "non-proliferat	SD.	y least square a		
lable 2-9. Effe	Fat Level	P/S Ratio	Cell Fraction	Sphingomyelin Phosphatidylcholine	30.6±12.4 20 Phosphatidic acid + Phosphatidylserine	Phoenbaridulinocitol	Phase-here fut-the here -1-	r nospiratioy ictuanotamine 44.7 <u>3</u> Trial Phosebolinide	(ILT)	n' (TPL)	n (others)	'Abbreviations used: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated faity acid ratio; n , number of replicates, 'Non-Prolif cells = "non-proliferative" cell fraction; Prolif. cells = "proliferative" cell fraction.	'Values are means ± SD.	<ul> <li>Significant effects by least square analysis of variance procedures are ind</li> </ul>		

sphingomyelin content for rats fed diets providing a polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio of 1.2 was 30.7% lower (p<0.05) compared to rats fed diets with polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio of 0.3.

# IV. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON PHOSPHOLIPID FATTY ACID COMPOSITION OF MUCOSAL CELLS

a) Phosphatidylethanolamine

Major fatty acids in phosphatidylethanolamine were C<sub>20:4(6)</sub>,  $C_{18:0}$ ,  $C_{18:1(9)}$ , and  $C_{18:2(6)}$  representing 32.8%, 18.9%, 13.3%, and 9.1%, respectively, and thus accounted for more than 70% of the total fatty acid content (Table 2-10). Groups fed high fat diets increased (p<0.005) phosphatidylethanolamine  $C_{18:2(6)}$ , total polyunsaturated, and w-6 fatty acid content as well as the unsaturation index (p<0.01), and decreased (p<0.05) the content of  $C_{16:1}$ ,  $C_{18:1(9)}$ ,  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$ , total monounsaturated fatty-acids and total w-3 fatty acid series compared to groups fed low fat diets. The phosphatidylethanolamine of rats fed diets with a low polyunsaturated fatty acid content exhibited a significantly (p<0.005) higher level of  $C_{18:1(9)}$ ,  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$ , and total monounsaturated fatty acids compared to rats fed diets high in polyunsaturated fatty acid content. On the other hand, amounts of  $c_{18:2(6)}$ , total polyunsaturated fatty acids, total w-6 fatty acids, and the unsaturation index were significantly lower (p<0.01) in rats fed diets providing the low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio compared to rats fed diets providing the high polyunsaturated fatty acid to saturated ratio. The following fatty acids, C<sub>20:4(6)</sub>, C<sub>16:1</sub>,  $C_{16:0}$  and  $C_{18:0}$ , as well as the total saturated fatty acid content of

Table 2-10. Effect of diet treatment on phosphatidylethanolamine fatty and composition of "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells from the rat large intestine • •

۰.

			Fatty	y Acid Compc	Fatty Acid Composition (%, w/w)				ũ	lfect of	Effect of Treatment'	-	L
Fai Level		High	£,				A Harrist Martin Martin Martin		•	Fat Level	Fat Í evel	P./S Ratio	Level Ratio
P/S Ratio	High		- Low		Light		Low		Fat P/S		Cell Cell	• =	
Cell Fraction	Non-Prolif <sup>2</sup>	Prolif.	Prolif <sup>1</sup> Non-Prolif	Prolif.	Non-Prohf.	Prolif.	Non Prolif.	Prolif. 1.	l Ratio			Fr.	E.
C16:0	8.7±1.7'	7 9±1 3	8.0±1=0	6.4±0.3	8.3±0.7	7.1±0.3	11.2±1.3	7.1±0.2	•	+   +   +	+++	+	
C16:1	1.7±0.5	1.4±0.2	1.2±00	1.3±0.2	1.7±0.2	1.8±0.4	2.2±0.7	2.1±0.2 +	+++				
C18:0	21.4±0.6	19 0±0.7	20.5±2.1	18, 3±1, 5	11.9±1.3	17.7±1.7	20.3±4.0	15.7±0.5		+	+++		
[18:1(9)	5) 6'070'01 gr	9.5±0.8	12.1±1.0	11.3±1.3	12.7±1.4	14.0±1.4	15.9±2.1	18.7±0.8 +	++++++	+	++++	+	
C18:1(5) + (7)	1.3±0.3	0.9±0.4		$1.6\pm0.4$	$2.1\pm0.3$	2.1±0.2	2.5±0.5	3.0±03	+++++++				
C18:2(6)	12.5±2.0	11.6±1.1		9.4116	7.6±0.7	7.4±0.7	7.4±1.3	7.0±0.4	++ + ++++	+			
C20:4(6)	30.9±3.7	33.1±2.8		35.5±1.6	35.3±1.7	35.7±2.2	26.5±3.3	31.6±1.5		• + +	+		
Zsats'	33.5±2.5	29.5±2.3		27.3±1.3	29.8±1.2	27.2±1.6	35.8±4.6	26.6±1.1		+	++++		
Σmonounsals <sup>1</sup>	13.7±1.1	12.4±0.4	15.2±0.7	16.7±1.9	17.4±1.4	18.5±1.8	21.2±2.7	24.3±0.9 +	++++++		+	÷	
Σpolvunsats <sup>1</sup>	52.8±3.5	58.0±2.3	53.1±3.7	55.9±1.4	53.0±1.9	54.2±2.9	42.9±4.0	49.0+1.4	++++++	+ +++	++		
Σ(w.6)'	49.6±3.7	54.3±2.3	49.7 <u>1</u> 2.9	0.110.12	48.9±1.8	90.0±2.7	39.2±3.6	44.8±1.4 +	+++++++	+ + + +	++++		
E(w 3) <sup>1</sup>	2,4±0.7	2.9±1.0	2.9±1.8	3.6±0.7	3.6±0.9	3.7±0.5	3.1±0.8	$3.8\pm0.4$	+				
.1(	1.83±0.15	2.07±0.10	1.89±0.17	2.03±0.05	1.96±0.09	2.01±0.12	1.55±0.15	1.80±0.06	++++++	+++,+++	+++		
	7	¥			<b>~</b> :	Ś	9	γ,		~			

Abbreviations used are: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated faity acids faito;  $\Sigma$ sats - total saturated faity acids,  $\Sigma$ monounsats = total monounsaturated faity acids;  $\Sigma$ polyunsations total polyunsaturated faity acids;  $\Sigma(w \cdot 6)$  = total ( $w \cdot 6$ ) faity acids;  $\Sigma(w \cdot 3)$  = total ( $w \cdot 3$ ) is total ( $w \cdot 3$ ) faity acids; n = number of replicates.

.

2Nen Prolif. – "non-proliferative" cell fraction; Prolif. – "proliferative" cell fraction

•

"UI = unsaturation index defined as the sum of faity acids with 2 or more double bonds multiplied by their relative percentage, and the result divided by 100.

'Values are means ± SD for major fatty acids.

'Significant effects by least square analysis of variance procedures are inducated (+ p<0.05, + + p<0.01, + + + p<0.005); Cell Fr., cell fraction; •, interaction effects.

.

phosphatidylethanolamine were not sensitive to the fatty acid composition of the diet.

Cell fractions, "non-proliferative" and "proliferative", also exhibited differences in the fatty acid profile. The "proliferative" cells exhibited a lower (p<0.005) phosphatidylethanolamine fatty acid content of total monounsaturated fatty acid,  $C_{16:0}$  and  $C_{18:0}$  compared to the "non-proliferative" cells. Increased levels (p<0.05) of total monounsaturated fatty acids,  $C_{18:1(9)}$ , and polyunsaturated fatty acids, w-6 series and  $C_{20:4(6)}$  as well as an increased unsaturation index (p<0.005) in phosphatidylethanolamine of the "proliferative" cell population compared to the "non-proliferative" cell population were observed. Finally, no significant difference between cell fractions for  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$ ,  $C_{18:2(6)}$  and the sum of w-3 fatty acids was observed. Some interactions occurred, mainly between the effect of dietary fat level and dietary fatty acid composition (Table 2-10).

#### b) Phosphatidylcholine

Diets altered major fatty acyl constituents of phosphatidylcholine in both "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell fractions (Table 2-11). A significant decrease (p<0.005) in  $C_{16:1}$ ,  $C_{18:1(9)}$ , and  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$  accounted for the lower total monounsaturated fatty acyl content of phosphatidylcholine in the groups fed high fat diets compared to the groups fed low fat diets. On the other hand, higher levels (p<0.005) of  $C_{18:2(6)}$ ,  $C_{20:4(6)}$ , and the sum of polyunsaturated fatty acids occurred in animals fed the high fat diets. While the total w-6 fatty acid content of phosphatidylcholine increased (p<0.005) in rats fed the high fat diets, neither the total polyunsaturated w-3,

Table 2-11. Effect of diet treatment on phosphatidylcholine fatty acid composition of "non proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells from the rat large intestine.

0

		,		<b>.</b>					,				
Fat Level		Нідһ	, L		~	Low				Fat		Fat .	P/S
P/S Ratio <sup>1</sup>	High		1 Juw		High		Low			•	ī	1.evel -	•
Cell Fraction	Non - Prolif .*	Prolif <sup>1</sup>	Prolif <sup>1</sup> Non-Prolif	Prohl	Nen-Prohf.	Prolif.	Non - Prolif	Prolif.	Fat P Level Ra	P/S P/S Ratio Ratio	S Cell	Celt Fr.	E Cell
C16:0	23.2±2.0	25.5±3.8	24.0±1.0	25 541 2	25 141.2	29.3±2.6	24.1±1.2	27.0±0.9	44 4	-	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		
C16:1	$1.0\pm0.2$	0.8±0.2	1.1±0.4	1.7±0.2	$1.2 \pm 0.6$	2.2±0.7	$2.00\pm0.9$		+ 94 +	;+ ++ +	+	+ + + + +	+
C18:0	12.9±0.9	12.4±0.9	10.4±0.5	10.4±1.4	10.5±1.8	9.9±0.6	10.5±2.9		+ + + + +	++++			
[18:1(9)	10.011.7	10.3±0.6	15.3±2.2	15.2±18	16.5±2.6	15.7±2.6	22.1±1.2	20.7±2.4	+ + + + +	++			
[18:1(5) + (7)	$1.8\pm0.3$	1.7±0.4	2.5+0.2	$2.5\pm0.3$	4.8±0.6	5.4±1.1	5.7±0.5	7.6±1.2	+ + + + +	+ + +	+ +	+ + +	
[18:2(6)	24.0±1.8	23.6±1.5	19.5±1.2	18.3±0.6	15.241.1	13.7±1.0	12.0±0.9	11.2±1.5	+ + <b>ª</b> + +	++	+		•
[20:4(6)	14.1±1.4	13.3±1.7	14.2±1.7	13.1±1.7	14.1±1.5	12.6±1.5	11.2±1.2	9.7±0.6	· + +	+	+++	+	
Σsals	41.1±2.7	42.2±4.7	39.7±1.4	40 1±1.7	40.9±1.1	43.6±2.1	$40.0\pm1.9$	40.6±0.8			+		
Σmonounsals <sup>1</sup>	13.7±1.1	13.6±0.9	20.5±2.0	21.1±1.8	24.0±2.3	24.8±2.5	31.4±2.0	33.6±1.9	+ + + +	·. ++	+ +	+	+
Σpolyunsats <sup>1</sup>	43.4±2.4	42.6±3.7	38.9±2.7	37 412.4	34.2±2.0	30.8±2.1	27.8±1.5	25.5±1.9	+++++	++	+		
Σ(w 6)'	42.7±2.1	42.0±3.6	38.0±2.7	36.6±2.2	33:2±2.0	29.8±2.3	27.1±1.2	24.5±1.7	· + • + +	+	+ +		
Σ(w·3)1	$0.7\pm0.3$	0.6±0.2	0.9±0.2	$0.8\pm0.3$	1.1±0.4	0.9±0.4	0.7±0.4	$1.0\pm0.2$					•
	$1.28\pm0.07$	$1.25\pm0.13$	$1.17\pm0.09$	$1.13\pm0.09$	1.09±0.07	$0.96\pm0.08$	0.87±0.06	0.79±0.05	+ + + +	++	+ +		
	~	9		х.	S.	<b>S</b>	9	9					

total polyunsaturated fatty acids;  $\Sigma(w, 6) = \text{total}(w, 6)$  fatty acids;  $\Sigma(w, 3) = \text{total}(w, 3)$  fatty acids; n = number of replicates.

<sup>2</sup>Non-Prolif. = "non-proliferative cell fraction: Prolif = "proliferative cell fraction

"UI = unsaturation index defined as the sum of fatty acids with 2 or more double konds multiplied by their relative percentage, and the result divided by 100.

"Values are means ± SD for major fatty acids.

"Significant effects by least square analysis of variance procedures are indicated (+ p<0.05, + + p<0.01, + + + p<0.005); Cell Fr., cell fraction; •, interaction effects.

65

nor the total saturated fatty acid content was significantly altered.  $C_{16:0}$  increased (p<0.05) and  $C_{18:0}$  decreased (p<0.005) in animals fed low fat diets. The unsaturation index decreased (p<0.005) for animals fed diets low in fat.

5.5

Diet fatty acid composition also influenced phosphatidylcholine fatty acyl chains with trends similar to those observed by dietary fat level (Table 2-11). The fatty acids C<sub>16:1</sub>, C<sub>18:1(9)</sub>, C<sub>18:1(5+7)</sub> as well as the sum of monounsaturated fatty acids were significantly lower (p<0.005) for rats fed diets having a him provide turated fatty acid Increased levels (p<0.005) of total content. misaturated fatty acids and total polyunsaturated w-6, inclu 8:2(6) and C<sub>20:4(6)</sub> but not w-3 series, were observed in groups fed diets of high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio. C<sub>16:0</sub> and total polyunsaturated fatty acids were not significantly different between groups fed diets varying in fatty acid composition; however, phosphatidylcholine  $C_{18:0}$  content was lower (16.0%, p<0.005) in animals fed diets with low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio. Variations observed in these fatty arids led to significant alteration of the unsaturation index with a 13.5% decrease in mucosal cell phosphatidylcholine for rats fed the low fat diets compared to rats fed high fat diets.

Phosphatidylcholine fatty acid composition varies between cell populations (Table 2-11). The fatty acid content of  $C_{16:0}$ ,  $C_{16:1}$ , and  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$  were higher by 11.1% (p<0.005), 64.2% (p<0.005) and 16.2% (p<0.01) in the phosphatidylcholine of the "proliferative" cells compared to the "non-proliferative" cells, respectively. The polyunsaturated fatty acid level of  $C_{18:2(6)}$  and  $C_{20:4(6)}$  was lower by

5.5% (p<0.05) and 9.1% (p<0.005) in the "proliferative" cells. and C<sub>10(119)</sub> content was not significantly different between both cell fractions. Higher total saturated (p<0.05) and total monounsaturated (p<0.01) fatty acids, and lower total polyunsaturated (p<0.05) and total w-6 (p<0.01) fatty acids in the "proliferative" cell population compared to the "non-proliferative" cells were observed. No significant difference in phosphatidylcholine total polyunsaturated w-3 fatty acids between cell fractions occurred. The unsaturation index higher by 6.8% wás in. "proliferative" cells compared to "non-proliferative" cells.

#### c) Phosphatidylinositol

1

Dietary treatment altered the fatty acid composition of phosphatidylinositol (Table 2-12).\* High fat diet fed groups compared to low fat diet fed groups exhibited a decreased content (p<0.05) of  $C_{16:1(5+7)}$ ,  $C_{18:1(9)}$ , and  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$ , accounting for the decrease of total monounsaturated fatty acid level. On the other hand, the phosphatidylinositol content of  $C_{18:2(6)}$ , total polyunsaturated and sum of w-6 fatty acids as well as the total saturated fatty acids were increased (p<0:05) in rats fed high fat diets. Surprisingly,  $C_{20:4(6)}$ level was decreased in groups fed high fat diets compared to groups fed low fat diets. Neither  $C_{16:0}$ ,  $C_{18:0}$ , the sum of w-3 series, nor the unsaturation index were affected by dietary fat level.

Similar effects of dietary polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio on phosphatidylinositol fatty acid composition were observed (Table 2-12). Feeding rats high fat diets increased (p<0.05) the content of  $C_{18:0}$ ,  $C_{18:2(6)}$ , total polyunsaturated and sum of w-6 fatty

			Fat	Ratio •	5 5												,						•		6	58		
		•		-	Len Cen	-											5									• •		
		icnt'		_	E. E.		ŕ	-	+		¥						nyu nsat									·		
	cstine	Effect of Treatment	<b>ب</b> یا م			++++++	+ + +	+ + + +	+	+			+ -	+ +	++++		ds: 2pc				-510-				,			
	arge int	fect of	Fat	-	Ratio I	+	-	+ +	+	+	- +	+ +	+	+ ,	+		atty act				រៀវមិន សារ							
	te rat l	E			Ratio R		4	, + + +	+ ;+ +	+		+ + +	+ .	+ +	+		rated f		by. 100		nteract							
	from th				Fat Level R		+	+++++	`+ +	⊤ + + *∍	<b>n</b> g +	+++	-+	+ +			= total monounsaturated fatty acids; Epolyunsats		divided		с. • :ио							
	al cells			İ	Prolif. 1	14.7±1.9	1.6±0.2	11.8±04 +	6,6 <u>±</u> 07 +	8.8±0.7 + 14 5+0.6	±2.3	±1.3 +			0.05	و	tal mon		result		ll fracti				Æ			
	mucos				Pr	14.7	1.6	0.10 8.11	6.6	2017 2017	49.0±2.3	20.7±1	30.8±1.3	28.4±1.0	1.02±0.05				and the		Ë. Ĵ		L			•		
	acid composition of "non' proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells from the rat large intestine		•	<b>*</b>	4	5.6	1 2 1 2	10	, F ()	5 C S C		~1	<u> </u>	3.4	12	7	acid ratio: Easts = total saturated fativ acids. Emonoumats $(w-1) = total (w-3)$ fatty acids; $n = number of replicates ad$	1	entage.	6	과           과          10.5)         5.51         Fraction: *         10.51         5.52         10.52			ı				
1. j. j.		1			Non-Prohf		1 11 1 2	0 [+8 0]	6 0±0 4	8 0±0 11 0+2	55 0.43	l+: 6l	25 1±3	23.7±3.4 1 340 5	0 83±0.12		аг. 5 С. С. 16 С. 16		1. 1. I.		કે રુપ્ર							
	ve and		, wo l		Prolif.	1.0	0.2	5.0 2.0	0.9	0.4 1.8	<u>;</u>	0.9	1.4	].0 0.4	.07	<u>م</u>	atty acts numb		r relatir		<b>→</b> '	•						÷
•	hferau				Pro	15.2±1.0	1.2±0.2	8.1±0.55	4.6±0.9	11.3±0.4 16 8+1 8	50.4±1.3	14.4±0.9	35.4±1.4	33.3±1.0 1+0.4	1.15±0.07		rated fa ids; n =	,	by the		₽<0 01 / + +							-
نې د د م	ncni pro	Acid Composition (%, w/w)		High				<u>، ۲</u>	¢.	9. U	્રંભ્	.2	حيا	• • •	19	<b>م</b> بر	tal saty atty ac		ittiplied		+ +							
	г јо пс	on (4.	· , .,		Nen Prolif	2],4±4.3	1.7±0.5	7.8±1.7	4.1±0.9	10.9±0.6	55.7±3.8	14 6±1.2	30.0±4.5	29.0±3.9	0.96±0.16		(* 3) [		inds mu		indicated ( + p<0.05.	1		•				
•	upsodu	mpostti			· ,		.6. . 8	0.1	1.2	0.0	5	7		<u> </u>			tio; Σsa ≕ total	1 Fract	vible h	۰.	+							2
<b>v</b>	acul co	Acid Co			Prolif.	15.7±3.3	1.0±0.1	1.2±0.20	2.7±0.2	14.8±1.0 15 1+7 q	51.0±2.5	12.1±1.2	37.5±4.1	35.6 <u>1</u> 3.8 1 n+n 3	1.15±0.16		acid ra (w-3)	ive cel	more do	•	indicat							
	<ul> <li>Effect of diet treatment on phosphatidylinositol fatty</li> </ul>	Fatty		l.ow			من د	4 4	÷	89.99	5	C,		- 4	, ,	· ·	ed faity acids; Σ	roliferal	th 2 cr	:	nes are							
	ylinosit	1		ı	Non Prolif	27.6±5.1	1.3±0.5	5.1±0.4	3.0±0.3	13.6±1.8 10.9+1.6	60,6±3.2	10.8±1.0	28.5±3.8	28.0 <u>+</u> 3.7 n s+n s	0.85±0.11	۲	saturati ) fatty	ii Ii	icids wi		biccedi							÷
-	sphatid		, Ifigh			5	د ه	r vi	4	<i>1</i> , <i>1</i>	1 <b>9</b>	c				-	ated to alm(w-6	rolif.	fatty		ariance			4			. <b>.</b>	
	on pho				Prohf	17.3±3.3	1.4±0.5 11.6±1.0	1+0.16	1.840.4	16.7 <u>+</u> 3.2 17 5+1 7	52.9±3.0	:10.6±2.0	36.9±4.1	35.0±4.1	1.08±0.15		unsatur ) = tot	fraction	lo.mus	acids	sis of v			`a `		•	,	
м. т. •	atment		. <b>.</b> ·	H				۶ 		•			-	2.			o, poly Σ(w 6	e <sup>-</sup> cell	as the	vi fatty	c analy							•
	diet tro				Non Prolif	20.4+1.3	12±0.2	4.6±0.3	2.2±0.1	16.4±1.2 17 0+1-1	57.1±1.9	8.6±0.5	34.3±2.0	33.4±1.9 0 0+0 6	1.01±0.07		y acids;	liferativ	definer	vem 10	ienbs is			•	÷			• .
2	fect of			  ,	Non				-						-		d are: I cd fatt	ou bro	n index	± SD I	s hy Ica			۰.	•	•	2	• • •
· • • • •					Eo		. q.	. 0	(7)			nts <sup>i</sup>	, s	۲	•	•	Abbreviations used are: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated faity acid retotal polyunsaturated faity acids; $\Sigma(w.6) = \text{total}(w.6)$ faity acids; $\Sigma(w.3)$	'Non' Prolif. = "non-proliferative" cell fraction; Prolif. = "proliferative" cell fraction	1.11 = unsaturation index defined as the sum of fatty acids with 2 or more double bonds multiplied by their relation portonitage, and the result divided by 100	Waiues are means ± SD for major fatty acids	Significant effects by least square analysis of variance procedures are				•			
	Table 2-12		Fat Level	P/S' Ratio <sup>1</sup>	Cell Fraction	U.	1.9	C18:1(9)	C18:1(5) + (7)	C18:2(6) C20:4(6)	101	<b>Zmonounsats</b> <sup>i</sup>	z polyunsats <sup>1</sup>	Σ(w-6)' ; Σ( <u>w</u> -3)'.			breviati I polyu	ń Proli	Sun =	ues arc	nesilin		÷	•	•	•	•	•
	Tal		- Fat	P/S	Cell	C16:0	C16:1	້ ວິ	C18	3 C	L'SIEST	й	8	W)W	Ξ	Ē	tota ,	No.	Ę	'Vai	SIF.							

acids, while decreasing (p<0.05) the level of  $C_{18:1(9)}$ ,  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$ , and total polyunsaturated fatty acids. The unsaturation index was higher (p<0.05) in animals fed diets a high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio compared to animals fed diets with a low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio. Varying the fatty acid composition of the diets did not after the levels of either  $C_{16:0}$ ,  $C_{16:1(5+7)}$ ,  $C_{20:4(6)}$ , total saturated fatty acids, or the sum of w-3 fatty acid series.

69

Cell fractions, "non-proliferative" and "proliferatve", exhibited differences in the phosphatidylinositol fatty acid profile (Table Higher content (p<0.005) of  $C_{16:0}$  and total saturated fatty 2-12). acid, and lower content (p<0.01) of  $C_{18:0}$ , C18:1(9) and  $C_{20:4(6)}$ , well as total polyunsaturated and sum of w-6 fatty acids were observed in the "non-proliferative" cell population ... compared to the "proliferative" cells. "The level of w-3 fatty acids was not different between cell populations, while the unsaturation index was significantly higher (p<0.005) in the "proliferative" cells.

d) Phosphatidy]serine

As for other phospholipids, phosphatidylserine fatty acid composition was modulated by dietary fat treatment (Table 2-13). Groups fed low fat diets exhibited lower levels (p<0.005) of C<sub>18:2(6)</sub> and the sum of the w-6 series accounting for the lower content (p<0.005) of total polyunsaturated fatty acid. These same groups also showed a lower content of C<sub>18:0</sub> (p<0.005) compared to groups fed high fat diets. Higher content (p<0.005) of C<sub>16:1(5+7)</sub>, C<sub>18:1(9)</sub>, C<sub>18:1(5+7)</sub>, and total monounsaturated fatty acid in phosphatidylserine of animals fed low fat diets were observed. Fat level did not affect Table 2–13. Effect of diet treatment on phosphatidylserine fatty acid composition of "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells from the rat large intestine.

,

-

	بەر چەر			Fat	by Acid Comp	Fatty Acid Composition (%, w/w)	•				Ξ	fect of	Effect of Treatment	ment		
,				• •	•											Fat
	Fat Level	,	High	ų į	•		Low					Fat	-	Fat	P/S I	Level.
				*							1	I.cvel	Ľ	Level P	Pario F	Ratio
	P/S Ratio	High	ч	Low		High		low				•		•	•	•
				.:			4			Fat	P/S	P/S		Cell	Cell Cell	E-
	Cell Fraction	- Non-Prolif	Prolif. <sup>1</sup>	Prolif. <sup>1</sup> Non-Prolif.	Prolif.	Non-Prohif.	Prolif	Non-Prolif.	Prolif.	Level	Ratio F		Fr.	Fr	L L	L.
		     	-													1
-	(16:0	19:6±4.3	9.4±1.7	17.6±6.6	6.6±1.8	18.3±5.9	8.9±1.6	$17.1\pm2.0$	5.4±0.5				++++			
	CIALI	2.6±0.9	1.8±0.3.	1.8±0.4	1.2±0.5	1.9±0.7	2.6±1.4	3.1±0.7	2.3±0.2 ++	+ +		+				
2	C18:0	31,0±2.4	34.4±2.2	31,8±1.5	35.0±1.9	30.2±2.6	22.5±1.8	27.7±1.1	30.9±2.0	+ + +		+	+ +		,	
	(18:1(6)	23:5±2.1	28.6±1.2	25:5±3.0	33.0±2.9	27.5±3.4	6 2+0+2 3	28 6±3.0	38.3±1.2	++ +++	++++		. + + +			
,	C18:1(5) + 7(7)	0.6±0.3	0.5±0 8	50490	$0.8\pm0.3$	1.3±0.2	2070年013	1.7±0.4	2.4±0.2	++++++	+ + +		+ + +			
а	C18.2(6)	~ 7.2±1.4	8.3±2.0	6.1±0.7	7.0±0.9	4.5±05 W	1.1±2,000	3.6±0.5	3.4±0.5	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+					
	C20:4(6)	3.0±0.5	3.0±0.6	3.2±0.9	3.2±1.1	3.1±0.7 5	1 + 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	3.5±1.1	2.8±0.5						,	
	- Zsats'	. 58.4±2.3	51.3±2.2	58.1±4.0	47.7±1.1	55.6±4.2.	0+1.5	53.8±2.0	44.8±1.4	+	+		+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++			
	Truonouncate	27.6±2.4	<b>J3.6</b> £3.8	28.7±2.7'	37.7±3.9	· 32.4±1 12	<b>1</b> 1.3±3.8	35.1±2.6	45.3±2.1	++, +++	++++		+++++	÷		
1	<b>Z</b> polyunsats <sup>1</sup>	14.0±0.8	16.4±2.7	12.8±2.1	14.1±3.4	11.9±1 🖓	2.7±2.5	10 9±1 6	9.9±1.7	+++++	+					
	Σ(* 6)	12.9±0.7	15.0±2.7	12.4±2.0	¥ 12.6±2.4	9 9±1 7 1	5 et 12.2±2.0	9.7±1.4	9.1±1.5	· +++						
	Σ(* 3)	1.1±0.4	$1.4\pm0.3$	$0.7\pm0.3$	1.42±1.11	2.0±0.2	1.5±0.6	1.1±0.5	0.9±0.4		+			·+		
	רוי - יוב <b>ו</b>	0.42±0.05	0.47±0.07	0.39±0.07	$0.46\pm0.10$	0.40±0.05	0 44±0.09	0 35±0 06	$0.33\pm0.05$	+	•		+			
	, u	91	• •		<i>د</i> ،	4	s.	<b>ح</b> .	<b>v</b> ∙i							

٢

1.

Abbreviations used are: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated faity acid ratio; Easts = total saturated faity acids, Emonounsats = total monounsats = total monounsats = total monounsats = total monounsats = total monounsate faity acids; Epolyun'a's = total polynumiation faity acids;  $\Sigma(w, 6) = total (w, 6)$  faity acids;  $\Sigma(w, 3) = total (w, 3)$  faity acids; n = number of replicates2

.. •

.8

·.....

۷ "Nen Prolf = "non-proliferative" cell fraction: Prolif. z. "proliferative" cell fraction.

1.1 • unsaturation index defined as the sum of fatty acids with 2 or more double bonds multiplied by their relative percentage, and the result divided by 100

Values are means ± SD for major fatty acids.

 $S_2$  informs of entropy heat. square analysis of variance procedures are indicated (+p<0.05,++p<0.001,+++p<0.005). Cell Fri., cell fraction: ", interaction effects

3

53

4

.

Ithe w-3 fatty acid series, and the unsaturation index was significantly higher (p<0.05) in phosphatidylserine of the high fat diet fed groups.</p>

The fatty acid composition of the diets also altered the fatty acid composition of phosphatidylserine (Table 2-13). A decrease (p<0.005) in  $C_{18:1(9)}$  and  $C_{18:1(7+5)}$  fatty acid content occurred in animals fed diets with a high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio, accounting for the lower level (p<0.005) of total monounsaturated fatty acids. The content of C<sub>18:2(6)</sub>, total saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids, as well as the sum of w-3 series were significantly higher (p<0.05) in groups having  $\oint$  high polyunsaturated fatty acid intake compared to groups having a low polyunsaturated fatty acid intake. Finally, the fatty acid composition of the diet did not affect either C16:0, C16:1(5+7), C18:0, C20:4(6), the sum of w-6 fatty acid series, or the unsaturation index of phosphatidy]serine.

The cell populations exhibited differences in the fatty acyl chain composition of phosphatidylserine (Table 2-13). While the levels of  $C_{16:0}$  and total saturated fatty acids were higher (p<0.005) in the "non-proliferative" cell population compared to the "proliferative" cells, levels of  $C_{18:0}$ ,  $C_{18:1(9)}$ ,  $C_{18:1(5+7)}$ , and total monounsaturated, fatty acids were lower (p<0.005) in the "non-proliferative" cells. The unsaturation index of phosphatidylserine was significantly higher (p<0.05) in the "proliferative" cell fraction. The fatty acids  $C_{16:1(5+7)}$ ,  $C_{18:2(6)}$ ,  $C_{20:4(6)}$ , and the sum of w-6 and w-3 fatty acid series did not show level differences between cell populations.

71 `

## V. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON SERUM VITAMIN E LEVELS AND ON LIPID PEROXIDE LEVELS IN MUCOSAL CELL LIPID

#### a) Serum Vitamin E Levels

Neither experimental day, fat level, nor fatty acid composition of the diet had an effect on serum vitamin E levels when determined as alpha-tocopherol (Table 2-14). Although not significant, serum vitamin E concentration for low fat diet fed groups was 17% higher when compared to the interview diet fed groups.

b) "Proliferative" Mucosal Cell Lipid Peroxide Levels

The standard curve of cumen hydrogeroxide in the range 0-1.0 nmole is shown in figure 2-2. Color spectra comparison between comen hydroperoxide and peroxide of mucosal cell lipid fraction demonstrated

Table 2-14. Effect of fat diets containing similar Vitamin E densities (IU/1000 kcal) on rat serum Vitamin E levels ( $\mu$ g/dl).

, Fat	Level	Ĥ	igh	Lo	w	Eſ	fect of Treatmen	nt
P/S	Ratio	High	Low	High	Low	Fat Level	P/S Ratio	Int
x, /		380	1,390	1770	1430	NS	NS	NS
•		± 309'	± 319	± 5053	± 298	•		
		(n=7)	(n=6)	(n = 4)	(n=6)	*	· · ·	• · · ·

Abbreviations used: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio. Values are means  $\pm$  SD:

<sup>3</sup>This mean  $\pm$  SI) value tends to be higher compared to others due to one rat showing a much higher serum Vitamin E level (2480  $\mu$ g/dl).

\*Effect of treatment determined by two way analysis of variance procedures; Int, interaction between effects of fat level and polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio; NS, not significantly different.





Cumen hydroperoxide (0-1.0 nmoles) were determined as described in Material and Methods. (  $\boxdot$  ) represent mean values of 2 or 3 replicates.

у . - no interference due to turbidity or other opponent factors (figure 2-3).

Experimental day had no effect on lipid peroxide levels. Fat level, but not dietary fatty acid composition, affected lipid peroxide values when expressed as nmol equivalent of cumen hydroperoxide/mg protein. Feeding high fat diets increased "proliferative" cell lipid peroxide values by 64% (p<0.05) compared to groups fed low fat diets (Table 2-15).

When results are expressed as nmole of cumen hydroperoxide equivalent per mg (or mol) of phospholipids, no effect of fat was observed. However, groups fed a polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid diet ratio of 1.1 exhibited a 73% increase (p<0.006) in lipid peroxide content compared to groups fed a polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid diet ratio of 0.3 (Table 2-15).

To correlate lipid peroxidation with the phospholipid fatty acid composition and the unsaturation index. statistical analysis for effects of diet treatment on phosphatidyleth'anolamine and phosphatidylcholine fatty acids of the "proliferative" mucosal cells in the large intestine was performed and is summarized (Table 2-16). Except for  $C_{20:4(6)}$  fatty acid of phosphatidylethanolamine, both phospholipids were significantly affected in their fatty acid composition, including  $C_{18:2(6)}$ ,  $C_{20:4(6)}$ , total polyunsaturated and w-6 series fatty acids, by fat level and fatty acid composition of the diets. An increase in all these fatty acids were observed in groups fed diets with a high fat content (fat effect) and in groups fed diets with a high fat polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio (P/S effect). Both fat



Figure 2-3. Absorption spectra of cumen hydroperoxide and of ... lipid hydroperoxide from rat colonic cell lipid determined by the Hb-MB test

Cumen hydroperoxide ( -----, 0.2 nmoles) and 100  $\mu$ l of rat colonic cell lipid fraction ( \_\_\_\_\_\_) have been treated as described in Material and Methods. Zero absorbance was adjusted at 800nm with H<sub>2</sub>O against H<sub>2</sub>O. (chart speed: 10nm/cm, scan rate: 1nm/sec, pen: 0-0.1 Abs).

Table 2-15.	Effect of diet treatment on lipid peroxidation of	"proliferative"	mucosal cell lipid
	fraction from the rat large intestine.		

4		Lipid Pero	oxide Values <sup>1</sup>			~ a	
Fat Level	Hi	igh	Lo	w	Effec	l of Treatm	ent <sup>4</sup>
P/S Ratio <sup>2</sup>	High	Low	High	Low	Fat Level	P/S Ratio	Int
nmole/ mg protein	0.11 <sup>3</sup> ±0.02	0.07 ±0.04	0.05 ±0.01	0.06 ±0.01	0.05 7	NS	NS
nmole/ mg Phospho- lipids	1.09 ±0.30	0.53 ±0.28	0.90 ±0.33	$0.62 \pm 0.14$	NS	0.006	NS
nmole/ µmole Phośpho -lipids	0.80 ±0.22	0.38 ±0.21	0.66 ±0.24	0.44 ±0.11	NS	0.006	NS "
n'	5	5	2	6			1 T

<sup>1</sup>Lipid peroxide values are expressed as nmole of cumen hydroperoxide (multiply by factor 2 to obtain results in nequ.).

<sup>2</sup>Abbreviations used: P/S Ratio, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio; n; number of replicates.

 $^{3}$ Values are means  $\pm$  SD.

ł

\*Significant effects (p <) by two-way analysis of variance procedures are indicated; Int, interaction between effects of fat level and polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid tatio; NS, not significantly different.

level and fatty acid composition of the diets also affected the

unsaturation index in the phospholipids.

FILLE of diet treatment on phosphatedylechanolamine and phosphatedylecholine fatty acid composition of "proliferative" mucesal cells from the rat large intestine	l.cw. Effect o	High Low Level Ratio Int	7.0±0.4 0.001 0.02	SN SN	44.8±1.4 0.001 0.003	5.7±0.5 5.8±0.4 NS NS NS NS 2.01±0.12 11.80±0.06 0.005 0.01 NS	11.2±1.5 0 101. 0.001	9.7±0.7 0.01 NS	24.2.1 25.2.2 25.2.1.2 20.0.1 1001 1001 100 24.2.1 24.5.1.7 20.0.1 1001 1001 100	SN SN 61'0756'0		At breviations used are: P/S Hatto, polyunsaturated to saturated faity acid ratio: $\Sigma$ sats = total polyunsaturated faity acids; $\Sigma(w.6) = total (w.6)$ faity acids; $\Sigma(w.3) = total (w.3)$ faity total.		wentions effects (p<) by two way analysis of variance procedures are indicated. Int. interaction between effects of fat level and polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio, NS, not						7		
ylethanolanune and p	Fatty Acid Composition (R. w/w)	l.ow	0 4+1 6	35.5±1.6 55.9+1.4	51.9±1.9	3.6±0.7 2.03±0.05	18.3±0.6	13.1±1.7	38.9±2.7	0.89±0.24	$1.17\pm0.09$	saturated fatty acid i icids with 2 or more o		ice procedures are inc			·	•		•		•
ceatiment on phosphrated	F High	ligh	11 6±1 1'	33.1±2.8	54.3±2.3	2.07±0.10	23.6±1.5	13.3±1.7	42.6±3.7	0.58±0.17	1.25±0.13	atio, polyunsaturated to ed as the sum of fatty a		o-way analysis of variar.	• •	•	•		(A)		¥.	
			Flarender Wethandraune	( )( 2(()) ( ), (())			Prophandylcholane CLE 2(6)	(1)12 (1)	2 5-15 cm 31 55 3 6-1-2 5			At bree attains used are: P/S Hatto, polyunsaturated to saturated fa 16.3: 11	National means + SD	Significant effects (p<) by two constraints dofferent	And a state of the second s			- · · ·				

#### D. DISCUSSION

Dietary fats have a variety of effects on cell membranes. Previous studies have demonstrated that dietary fat affects membrane lipid content and phospholipid fatty acyl composition (13,15,16,18-20). Other studies also reported increased membrane lipid peroxide levels with increased membrane polyuesaturated fatty acid content and membrane unsaturation index (21,22). Experiments examining brush-border membrane and basolateral membrane in the small and large intestine have been performed and demonstrated modulation of structure and function by fat diet treatment (20,41,47). The experiment presented in this thesis extends current knowledge by examining the hypothesis that changes in dietary fat level and fatty acid composition alter colonocyte membrane composition which in turn may affect lipid peroxide levels in this cell type.

I. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON MUCOSAL CELL ISOLATION AND THYMIDINE KINASE ACTIVITY

a) -Cell Isolation

"Non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell populations from the small intestine have been successfully isolated (49,50,51,53). Methods to isolate these cell types from the large intestine have also been reported (54,55,72). The procedure used in the present experiment is a modification of the methods described by Brasitus (55) for the cecum and proximal colon and by Weiser (49) for the small intestine. The procedure has been modified for ease and better control of the cell integrity as the isolation period in the present study is rather long.

Ca<sup>++</sup> and Mg<sup>++</sup> Free Hank's buffer containing triethanolamine-HCl and dithiothreitol was used as the main isolating solution due to its properties of controlling constant pH and osmolarity, while supplying vital elements for cell metabolism. The disadvantage of the method is a long isolation time, resulting from collection of twelve fractions. This is balanced by the advantage that the method is "smooth" and almost no clumped cells are observed in the fractions as opposed to the Brasitus' procedure (personal communication). Clumped cells and cell sheets are not desired as they are likely to represent not only epithelial cells but a mixture of epithelial and non-differentiated cells. Clumped cells, debris and mucus-like amaterial were removed by filtration. "non-proliferative" from Although cells and "proliferative" cell fractions were well pelleted, fluffy material, \_perhaps mucus, could occasionally be observed around the pellet of the "non-proliferative" cell fraction. This "non-proliferative" cell population consists of columnar epithelial cells, goblet cells, some endocrine cells and lymphocytes (55). Each fraction was stained with hematoxylin and eosin, periodic acid-Schiff (PAS), Wright's, and mucicarmine stains. Unfortunately, cell fixation was performed by air drying and this process does not allow for cell type recognition.

As observed by others (52) there was a high variability of total material released (mg of protein) between animals (Table 2-4). Unexpectedly, the diet treatment exhibited an effect on the cell isolation procedure, with a 55% higher amount of collected material in groups fed diets with low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio compared to groups fed diets with high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio (Table 2-4). This effect is not due to the procedure

as the percentage of protein distributed between "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell populations was apparently similar for each dietary group (Table 2-5). However, it is possible that cell cohesion and mucus properties have been altered by diet treatment. Change in the effectiveness of the unstirred water layer may have also occurred. Further investigation is needed to support these suggestions. Based on the results of H-thymidine incorporation into DKA (Table 2-3), a better distribution would have been 50-60% and 40-50% of protein in the "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell populations, respectively, with approximately 12 mg of total cell protein.

proc

s with other studies are difficult to make as the sue sites used are varied. For instance, Brasitus ecumrand proximal colon while Craven and DeRubertis stal colon from the colonic flexure to 1 cm above in, the latter study, cells from two colons were total protein were collected. It is noteworthy to that no filtration step was included, thus contamination with mucus was likely. On the other hand, 10% (w/v) of heat-treated fetal

bovine serum was used to breakdown the mucus, and antibiotics added to the solution to prevent bacterial growth.

In the future, some modifications to improve the method as well as some additional controls should be performed. First, a 15 minute bath with 10% fetal calf serum in 1.6% Jolik's modified minimum essential medium should be included (55). This solution has the property to degrade the mucus and would ease cell release increasing material collected. Secondly, cells should be fixed adequately and stained for cell identification. Eurthermore, cells and intestinal tissue should

be prepared for microscopic observation at different stages of the procedure.

b) Thymidine Kinase Activity

Thyimidine kinase activity-has been measured in regenerating rat livers (73-76), in leukocytes (58), and in small (57) and large (55,57) intestines of rats (55,57) and humans (57). Differences in tissues examined, enzyme purity, and way of expressing results make it difficult to compare the data of the current study with the literature. Both <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine (73-75) and <sup>14</sup>C-thymidine (55,57,58,76) as enzyme substrates have been used. Important variations in amount (from  $1 \times 10^{5}$ to 2x10<sup>6</sup> dpm) of radioactive substrate added to the reaction mixture occurred among studies (55,57,58,73). Two groups (57,58) expressed their results as mol of product/min/mg of protein. According to the test conditions, these reported results are practically impossible. Due to a low thymidine kinase activity in the samples, 500,000 dpm/reaction mixture with a reaction time of 45 minutes have been used to measure the enzyme activity. As the test is subject to variations from one assay to another, batches of 2 blanks and 4 samples, including each time the "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell fractions of the same animal, were processed to decrease possible errors.

Thymidine kinase specific activity was 41% higher (p<0.05) in the "proliferative" cell population compared to "non-proliferative" cells. Therefore, it seems that these fractions exhibit metabolic differences. However, the activities obtained are lower than those observed by Brasitus (55) in cecum plus proximal rat colon and Salser and Balis (57) in rat colon, Brasitus (55) separated, by gradient

81

ιų.

centrifugation, cell fractions with increasing thymidine kinase activity from 5.7 to 19.0 pmol/min/mg of protein with an average of 11.3 pmol/min/mg of protein for the four isolated fractions. On the other hand, Salser and Balis (57) obtained a mean value of 6.5 pmol/min/mg of protein in rat colon. Average thymidine kinase activity obtained in this study for the "proliferative" cell fraction was 4.1 pmol/min/mg of protein. The differences can be explained in part by differences in methodology and segment of tissue examined, and/or could be due to the small amount of material collected. Unexpectedly, the group fed a diet with a low fat and low polyunsaturated to saturated. fatty acid ratio exhibited lower thymidine kinase activity in the "proliferative" so-called cell population compared to "non-proliferative" cells (Table 2-6).

Ł,

### II. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON LIPID COMPOSITION OF MUCOSAL CELL

Cholesterol and phospholipid content of the mucosal cells in the large intestine were found to be lower compared to those obtained for microsomes of the small intestine (77). In this regard. dissimilarities between cholesterol and phospholipid content of jejunum and ileum have been observed (77). These differences may also be explained by variation in diet, and/or dilution effect by protein when using the whole cell homogenate for analysis compared to a purified membrane fraction. Cholesterol and phospholipid values found were also lower than those reported in brush-border membranes of rat small intestine (43,78,79). These observations are in agreement with another study (77) in which microsomes from rat small intestine exhibited lower content of both these lipid classes. Cholesterol to phospholipid

ratios in brush-border membrane of rat small (20,43,78-81) and large (47,82) intestine are generally higher than those obtained in this study for mucosal cells from the large bowel. The results found are consistent with those of Thomson et al. (43,79) suggesting no alteration of the bulk lipid composition of the cell membranes by dietary fat manipulation. On the other hand, this group did not report a significant effect of dietary fat on the molar ratio of these lipids in the brush-border membrane from the small intestine as others (20) or as in this study for mucosal cells in the large intestine. No such effect was observed in the basolateral membrane of either the proximal and distal small intestine, or the proximal and distal colon (20). Althought not significant, the mucosal cell total phospholipid content of animals fed diets with a low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio was higher compared to animals fed diets with a high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio (153 vs 129, g/mg of This may account for the significant effect (p<0.005) of protein). dietary fatty acid composition observed on the molar ratio of cholesterol to phospholipid (Table 2-7).

Unfortunately, it is not possible to further compare data of this study with those obtained by Brasitus et al. (20,44,47,80-84) since this group reported their results as a percentage of the total lipid. Higher cholesterol (p<0.005) content was found in the "non-proliferative" cell populations compared to "proliferative" cells: This result needs further investigation to delineate if it is an artifact or a constant observation. In the latter case, reasons and mechanisms for the difference observed will need further study.

III. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON PHOSPHOLIPID CONTENT OF MUCOSAL CELLS Morphological, functional and structural changes in the mucosa of the intestinal tract occur with age and disease such as diabetes, and can be influenced by external factors including irradiation, chronic ethanol exposure and nutrient intake (20,39-43,78,79,85-87). Although dietary fat induces changes in the brush-border membrane lipid composition and the phospholipid distribution in diabetic rats. generally less or no significant changes are observed in healthy animals (41,43,79). On the other hand, Brasitus et al. (20) found that dietary fat significantly altered the lipid composition and phospholipid distribution of rat small intestinal microvillus, while the basolateral membrane was altered to a lesser extent. These discrepancies between studies may in part be due to differences in strain, diet composition and the period of feeding. animal Furthermore, the modulation of membrane structure and function by dietary fat manipulation involves complex mechanisms that cannot be explained only on the basis of altered membrane lipid composition (79).

In the present study, and in agreement with the results obtained by others in brush-border membrane of the small intestine (41,79), no significant effect of fat level or diet fatty acid composition on the phospholipid class content was observed (Table 2-8). The slight discrepancies in the significance of the statistical test depending on the unit used to express the results (Tables 2-8 and 2-9) may be explained by the difference of one observation between both sets of data, an important factor for statistical analysis.

In agreement with the findings of Garg et al. (77) on the microsomal fraction of rat small intestine, the colonocytes exhibited a

84 ·

higher percentage of phosphatidylethanolamine than phosphatidylcholine. This result differs from number of membranes а where the phosphatidylcholine content is higher than phosphatidylethanolamine. Phosphatidylcholine may be synthesized via three different pathways. In the first pathway, phosphatidylcholine is formed by acylation of lysophosphatidylcholine (88). In the second, or so called "de-novo" phosphatidylcholine is pathway, synthesized bν reaction of diacylglycerol with CDP choline (89). The third pathway involves the phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase enzyme convert to phosphatidylethanolamine to phosphatidylcholine (90). While the first two pathways have been identified in rat small intestinal epithelial cells (91), failure to detect phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase activity in the microsomal fraction of this cell type has been reported (90).# Recently Dudeja et al. (92,93) found such activity not only in the rat colonic brush-border (92) and basolateral membranes (94), but also in various membranes from the small intestine (93). The transmethylase activities in the different subcellular fractions of the rat small intestinal epithelial cells ranged from 20-60% those of the plasma membrane (93). Unfortunately, only the data for the . brush-border membrane were presented. Although the reasons and mechanisms for the differences in the phospholipid profile among the various membranes of a cell are not yet known, a lower activity or content of phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase in microsomes compared to the plasma membrane may partly explain the higher level of phosphatidylethanolamine than phosphatidylcholine in the colonocytes and in the microsomes of the rat small intestine. Modulation of this v enzyme by dietary fat has been reported (62). Further research is

needed in this area.

IV. EFFECTS OF DIET TREATMENT ON PHOSPHOLIPID FATTY ACID COMPOSITION OF MUCOSAL CELLS

Dietary fat altered the phospholipid fatty acid composition and the unsaturation index of the "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells from the rat large intestine; the effects varied from one phospholipid class to another (Tables 2-10 to 2-13). Since all the essential nutrients for non-fat components remained constant, the effects observed are primarily due to dietary fat manipulation. Feeding either high fat diets (50% as energy) or high polyunsaturated fatty acid content diets (P/S=1.17) decreased the total monounsaturated fatty acid levels, and increased the total polyunsaturated fatty acid the colonic cell phospholipids. contents of Alterations in phospholipid polyunsaturated fatty acids by changing diet fat content reflected in changes of the w-6 (phosphatidylethanolamine, was phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylinositol, phosphatidylserine) and w-3 (phosphatidyl- ethanolamine) fatty acid series. Increasing the dietary polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio altered the w-6 fatty acid series in phospholipids but did not change w-3 fatty acids, except for phosphatidylserine. Diet variations did not influence saturated fatty acid content of the major phospholipids (phosphatidylethanolamine phosphatidylcholine). Fatty acid composition of sphingomyelin could not be determined due to the small relative percentage of this phospholipid (av. 6 %, w/w of total phospholipid). Therefore, the finding that colonic cell phospholipid fatty acid composition reflects, in part, dietary fat manipulation is consistent with previous studies

### (13,15,16,18-20,95).

3 -

Rats are homeotherms maintaining a constant body temperature despite environmental temperature variations. Similarly, organisms tend to keep a constant cell membrane fluidity despite external stress, such as diet, by modulating their membrane phospholipid fatty acid compositions and cholesterol levels - a process called "homeoviscous adaptation" (96-98).

Changes in the membrane lipid composition alter membrane functions (16,18,19,99-101). For instance, activities of acylcoenzyme A: cholesterol acyl transferase in rat liver microsomes (99), ATPase in rat heart mitochondria (19,100,101), glucagon-stimulated adenylate cyclase in rat liver plasma membrane (16), and NTPase in mouse liver nuclear envelope (18) were all influenced by dietary fat manipulation via alteration in membrane lipid composition. For a review on the effects of dietary fat on the membrane structure and function, see Clandinin et al. (15,17). Although it is possible to predict how dietary fat will alter the membrane lipid composition, it is yet not possible to predict how membrane functions will be affected (102).

Increased membrane polyunsaturated fatty acid content and increased membrane cholesterol content have generally been correlated with enhanced membrane fluidity (20,82,103). Discrepancies in this finding may be partly explained if not only the membrane phospholipid fatty acid or membrane cholesterol content, but also the interactions of both these factors are considered to understand regulation of the modulation of membrane fluidity. Changes in the membrane fluidity by dietary fat treatment have been reported in both the rat small and large intestine, as well as within intestinal cell membranes -

brush-border and basolateral membranes (20). Although not measured in this study, it is likely that diet treatment altered mucosal cell membrane fluidity in the large intestine:

An opposite trend in dietary fat effects for phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine fatty acyl chain composition between both cell fractions was observed. Phosphatidylcholine from the "proliferative" cell population tended to exhibit higher saturated fatty acid and lower mono- and polyunsaturated fatty acid levels compared to "non-proliferative" cells. A reverse effect, except for the monounsaturated fatty acids, occurred in phosphatidylethanolamine. No significant variations in the w-3 fatty acid series were observed. Further research is needed to delineate biological reasons and mechanisms for such differences.

In summary, the present experiment, in agreement with others (13,15,16,18-20,95), extended the current knowledge that dietary fat altered both the phospholipid fatty acid composition and the unsaturation index of mucosal cells from the rat large intestine. The effects varied between cell populations, "non-proliferative" and "proliferative", as well as among phospholipid classes within a cell type. Further research is needed to better understand the effects observed.

V. EFFECT OF DIET TREATMENT ON SERUM VITAMIN E LEVELS AND ON LIPID PEROXIDE LEVELS IN MUCOSAL CELL LIPID

a) Serum Vitamin E Levels

Methods to analyse serum vitamin E generally suggest hexane as the extracting solvent (104-106). Using the procedure described by Chow

and Omaye (106), low dl-alpha-tocopherol and d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate recoveries (20-25%) have been obtained. Rat serum alpha-tocopherol recoveries were 34% and 109% in absence or presence of the antioxidant butyl-hydroxy-toluene (BHT), respectively; while in human serum this antioxidant did not have such an effect (106).However. d-alpha-tocopherol added as internal standard to their sample was 0.07 g, of which less than half has been injected onto the column. This low amount of standard used does not allow calculation of recovery. То avoid the saponification step, which may be accompanied by loss of vitamin E, a slight modification of the clarification method described Nierenberg bу and Lester used (69). was Recoveries for dl-alpha-tocopherol and d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate were 105% and 123%, respectively. The latter high recovery can be explained by peak interference as compounds tend to be eluted at similar times at the beginning of the chromatogram. A better internal standard would have been gamma-tocopherol, which is expensive, or toeol, which is not available on the market. Both these compounds would be eluted at a longer retention time on a portion of the chromatogram where no peak is detected. Good reproducibility between duplicates was obtained. As in humans, the rat serum levels reported in the literature showed great variations (140-1560  $\mu$ g/11); (107-113). The variations may be due to differences in diet vitamin E and fat content, period of feeding, and/or animal age and strain; methodological problems (recovery) should also be considered. The serum alpha-tocopherol values found in this study (av. 1500  $\mu$ g/dl) are in the upper range of those reported.

1.

A non-significant difference in serum alpha-tocopherol status of the animals reflects a similar vitamin E density intake ¥IU/kcal)

between each group and/or a well controlled diet. Although not significant, and disregarding the abnormally high serum alphatocopherol concentration of one rat (2480 µg/dl) fed the How fat high olyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio diet, groups fed the low fat diets tended to exhibit a higher mean vitamin E value. This difference may be partly explained, by slight differences in vitamin E content among diets, by slight differences in food intake among groups, and by increased vitamin E mobilization in rats with higher polyunsaturated fatty acid intake. There was no direct relationship between polyunsaturated fatty acid intake and serum vitamin E-levels. Serum vitamin E may not reflect vitamin E status in tissues; however, liver microsomes did not exhibit differences of alpha-tocopherol content in rats fed vitamin E controlled diet (114). Therefore it is likely that vitamin E status in the "proliferative" cells of the rat large intestine among dietary groups was similar.

#### b) Lipid Peroxide

Since diets were prepared fresh once a week, peroxide levels in the diets have not been determined. According to Reddy and Tanaka (115), no significant levels ( ) eroxides were detected in freshly prepared and one week old diets kept at  $-4^{\circ}$ C.

Lipid eroxides and free radicals are known to induce cell memb ane damage and DNA mutations. A great deal of experiments shown increased lipid peroxidation under various conditions including septic (116) and vitamin E deficient animals (117) as well as after irradiation with gamma-rays (118) and UV light (21) or after injection of some types of carcinogens (119). Several methods for lipid peroxide determination are available (see ref. 120). These methods include measurement of 0, consumption, measurement of heptane released in breath samples, erythrocyte susceptibility to hemolysis, detection of conjugated dienes, loss of polyunsaturated fatty acid in membrane phospholipids, fluorescence analysis of lipid peroxidation products, chemiluminescence detection, and the thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBA-RS) assay. The TBA-RS procedure is the most widely used. However, this method does not measure lipid peroxide per se, but the end product, malondialdehyde (MDA), resulting from the breakdown of lipid peroxides and some other non-lipidic compounds. The procedure, sensitive<sup>y</sup> to parameters such as temperature and pH, involwes an acid-heating step which may initiate lipid peroxidation, thus increasing TBA-RS. It is also of importance to differentiate results obtained under non-induced lipid peroxidation systems (121-123) from those measuring susceptibility of sample to lipid peroxidation induced by ascorbate-iron or NADPH-iron (114,124,125). The lack of a standardized procedure may partly explain conflicting results. Recently, Ohishi et al. (126) described a new methylene blue derivative for use in a colorimetric method (Hb-MB Method) which detects specifically hydroperoxides, endoperoxides and peroxy radicals. This assay is now available as a kit which was used in this experiment. Prior to measurements of lipid peroxides in coloncytes, a few tests First, as previously reported (127), an equimolar were performed. relationship between nanoequivalents of cumen hydroperoxide detected, and the peroxide value measured by the iodometric method was confirmed using canola oil (data not shown). Secondly, turbidity and cloudiness in the reaction system were observed under the conditions described

1

<u>9</u>1
previously and as reported by Kanazawa et al. (128) when using rat liver ricrosomal fractions (data not shown). In the present experiment, lipid peroxides were determined in the lipid fraction from the "non-proliferative" mucosal cells in the rat large intestine, and as can be seen in figure 5, no turbidity or interference occurred. Although ethoxyquin, a yellow-brown antioxidant added to the lipid extraction solvents, did not influence the assay at the concentration used, butyl-hydroxy-toluene would be a better choice for future studies as this antioxidant is colorless and does not influence the test (129). In the present study, lipid peroxides were assayed only in the "proliferative" cell fraction. Although rats fed physiologically relevant diets exhibited very low levels of equivalent cumen hydronerovides changes in fet level and feith seid emeredition of the

hydroperoxides, changes in fat level and fatty acid composition of the diets significantly altered lipid peroxidation level (Table 2-15). Results in the literature are generally expressed as lipid

peroxide levels per mg of protein. This allows comparisons between similar type of membranes or tissues, but does not allow correlations between different types of materials as the amount of substrate for peroxidation per unit of protein varies. For instance, rat liver microsomal fractions contain 400-600 µg of phospholipid/mg of protein, while the rat large intestinal cell homogenates hold approximately 100 µg of phospholipid/mg of protein. For comparison, the results should also be expressed as amount of lipid peroxides per mg or moles of phospholipids.

Discrepancies among published data besides experimental variations, may partly be explained by differences in the physiological states of the animals as lipid peroxidation is not cnly dependent on

substrate available (polyunsaturated fatty acids' but also on the antioxidant status, the pool and activity of various enzymes (129) as well as on other factors (age, diseases) of the tissue or membrane studied. Peroxidation is often measured under stressed conditions such as vitamin E deficient (117) or iron-overloaded (130) animals, situations that increase the sensitivity to attack by reduced oxygen Since in the present experiment species. animals were fed physiologically relevant diets, comparisons with other studies for lipid peroxide should be performed with control values. However, since the end products measured are different, comparisons are difficult to make and data will be presented for information. Values (nmole of MDA/mg of protein) for the TBA-RS test, under non-induced lipid peroxidation conditions, reported for control groups were 0.7, 2.0, 1.5, and 0.8 in the homogenates of rat liver, brain, and kidney, respectively (116). Others reported 0.2-0.45 nmoles MDA/mg of protein in rat liver microsomes (114), and 0.9-2.0 nmoles MDA/mg of protein in rat gastric mucosa (131). As the leuco-methylene blue derivative for use in this colorimetric method is recent, published data are practically non-existent. Kanazawa et al. (128), using this assay, reported lipid peroxide levels of 1.31 to 1.58 nanoequivalents of linoleic acid hydroperoxide per mg of protein in rat liver microsomes. The causes for the lower values found in this study compared to these reported may be due to differences in the tissue studied, to variations in the phospholipid content (microsomes contain about 5 times more phospholipid/mg of protein compared to cell homogenate; dilution effect) and the pool of polyunsaturated fatty acids available for peroxidation. Furthermore, variations in the experimental conditions

134

including diets as well as animal age and strain have also to be considered. Lipid peroxides determined in control and alcohol-treated rats by both methods (the TBA-RS test and the Hb-MB assay) led to conflicting results (128). This further underlines the lack of specificity with the TBA-RS procedure, which demonstrated increased malondialdehyde (MDA) detected in alcoholic rats compared to non-treated animals, while increase of hydroperoxylinoleate did not occur.

A radical scavenger or the collision of two free radicals is needed to stop the propagation of lipid peroxidation. An environment with high polyunsaturated fatty acid levels will facilitate the propagation step compared to an environment with lower polyunsaturated fatty acid levels, assuming both contain similar free radical defense systems. The present experiment supports the hypothesis of an increased membrane polyunsaturated fatty acid content in groups fed high fat or high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio diets compared groups fed low fat or low polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio diets (Table 2-10 to 2-13), which in turn increases the lipid peroxide levels in these membranes (Table 2-15). However, it is yet not possible to determine which of the dietary factors - fat level, polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio, or both - primarily affect lipid peroxidation as first, both factors influence substrates available for peroxidation and secondly, both factors also affect the peroxide levels depending on the units used to express the results. These findings challenge those from B kingham (132) who reported an effect of diet vitamin E content, but not of diet fatty acid composition (P/S ratio), on lipid peroxidation in rats. However, the

methods used to determine lipid peroxides were different from the one used in this study, and some discrepancies in the results occurred depending on the procedure used.

>

In conclusion, the biological significance of the difference in the lipid peroxide levels observed between fat diet treated groups is not yet known. Further studies are needed to determine the extent of possible cell damage by such small amounts of peroxides, and to delineate more precisely the relationship between dietary fat and membrane cell injury by reduced oxygen species.

**%**⊒ 95

#### E. REFERENCES

Æ

5

マ

- 1. Wynder EL. Nutrition and cancer. Federation Proc. 1976;35: 1309-1315.
- Carrol KK. Experimental evidence of dietary factors and hormonedependent cancers. Cancer Res 1975;35:3374-3383.
- Phillips RL. Role of life-style and dietary habits in risk of cancer among Seventh-day Adventists. Cancer Res 1975;35: 3513-3522.
- Lipsett MB. Interaction of drugs, hormones, and nutrition in the causes of cancer. Cancer 1979;43:1967-1981.
- 5. Miller AB. Breast cancer. Cancer 1981;47:1109-1113.
- 6. Mettlin C. Diet and the epidemiology of human breast cancer. Cancer 1984;53:605-611.
- 7. Reddy BS, Mastromarino A, and Wynder E. Diet and metabolism: Large-bowel cancer. Cancer 1977;39:1815-1819.
- Report From the International Agency for Research on Cancer Intestinal Microbiology Group. Dietary fiber transit-time, fecal bacteria, steroids, and colon cancer in two Scandinavian populations. The Lancet July 1977:208-211.
- 9. Cummings JH, Wiggins HS, Jenkins DJA, Houston H, Jivraj T, Drasar BS, and Hill MJ. Influence of diets high and low in animal fat on bowel habit, gastrointestinal transit time, fecal microflora, bile acid, and fat excretion. J Clin Invest 1977;953-963.
- 10. Reddy BS, Hedges A, Laakso K, and Wynder EL. Fecal constituents of a high-risk North American and low-risk Finnish population for the development of large bowel cancer. Cancer letters 1978;4: 217-222.
- Zaridize DG. Environmental etiology of large-bowel cancer. JNCI 1983;70(3):389-400.
- 12. Renner R, Ingis SM, and Clandinin MT. Effects of high and low erucic acid rapeseed oils on energy metabolism and mitochonorial function of the chick. J of Nutr 1979;109(3):378-387. \*
- Innis SM, and Clandinin MT. Dynamic modulation of mitochondrial inner-membrane lipids in rat heart by dietary fat. Biochem J 1981;193:155-167.
- 14. Innis SM, and Clandinin MT. Mitochondrial membrane polar-head group composition is influenced by diet fat. Biochem J 1981; 198:231-234.

**,** 96 -

- 15. Clandinin MT, Foot M, and Robson L. Plasma membrane: Can its structure and function be modulated by dietary fat? Comp Biochem Physiol 1983;76B:335-339.
- Neelands PJ, and Clandinin MT. Diet fat influences liver plasmamembrane lipid composition and glucagon stimulated adenyla cyclase activity. Biochem J 1983;212:573-583.
- Clandinin MT, Field CJ, Hargreaves K, Morson L, and Zsigmond E. Role of diet fat in subcellular structure and function. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1985;63:546-556.
- 18. Venkatraman JT, Lefebvre YA, and Clandinin MT. Diet fat alters the structure and function of the nuclear envelope: Modulation of membrane fatty acid composition, NTPase activity and binding of triiodothyronine. Biochem and Biophys Res 1986;135:655-661.
- Zsigmond E, and Clandinin MT. Modulation of Mitochondrial ATPase sensitivity to inhibitors and stimulators by diet-induced changes in membrane lipid. Int J Biochem 1986;18(6):505-511.
- 20. Brasitus TA, Davidson NO, and Schachter D. Variations in dietary triacylglycerol saturation alter the lipid composition and fluidity of rat intestinal plasma membranes. Biochem Biophys Acta 1985;812:460-472.
- 21. Black HS, Lemger WA, Gerguis J, and Thornby JI. Relation of antioxidants and level of dietary lipid to epidermal peroxidation and ultraviolet carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1985;45:6254-6259.
- 22. Galeotti T, Borello S, and Minotti G. Membrane alterations in cancer cell: The role of oxy radicals. Ann NY Acad Sci 1986; 488:468-480.
- <sup>7</sup>23. Halliwell B, and Gutteridge MD. The importance of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease. Mol Aspects Med 1985; 8(2):89-193.
- 24. Vuillaume M. Reduced oxygen species, mutation, induction and cancer initiation. Mutation Research 1987;186:43-72.
- 25. Pascoe GA, Fariss FW, Olafsdottir K, and Reed DJ. A role of vitamin E in protection against cell injury (maintenance of intercellular glutathione precursors and biosynthesis) Eur J Biochem 1987;166:241-247.
- 26. Tappel AL. Selenium-glutathione peroxidase and vitamin E. Am J Clin Nutr 1974;27:960-965.
- 27. Torelli MV and Dianzani MV. Free Radicals in inflammatory disease. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Culter Rg, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press, 1984:355-380.

- Hoekstra WG. Biochemical function of selenium and its relation to vitamin E. Federation Proc 1975;34:2083-2089.
- 29. Hill KE and Burk RF. Influence of vitamin E and selenium on glutathione-dependent protection against microsomal lipid peroxidation. Pharmacol 1984;33:1065-1068.
- 30. Gibson DD, Hwarylko J, and McKay PB. GSH-dependent inhibition of lipid peroxidation: Properties of a potent cytosolic system which protects cell membranes. Lipids 1985;20(10):704-711.
- 31. Liebler DC, Kling DS, and Reed DJ. Antioxidant protection of phospholipid bilayers by alpha-tocophe ol. (Control of alpha-tocopherol status and lipid peroxidation by ascorbic acid and glutathione) J Biol Chem 1986;261(26):12114-12119.
- 32. Wayner DDM, Burton GW, Ingold KU, Barclay LRC, and Locke SJ. The relative contributions of vitamin E, urate, ascorbate and protected to the total peroxyl radical-trapping antioxidant activity of human blood plasma. BBA 1987;924:408-419.
- 33. Kawai-Kobayashi K, and Yoshida A. Effect of dietary ascorbic acid and vitamin E on metabolic changes in rats and guinea pigs exposed to PCB. J Nutr 1986;116:98-106.
- 34. Thiriot C, Durand P, Jasseron MP, kergonou JF, and Ducousso R. Radiosensitive antioxidant membrane-bound factors in rat liver microsomes: I. The role of glutathione and vitamin E. Biochem Int 1987;14(1):1-8.
- 35. Thiriot C, Durand P, Jasseron MP, Kergonou JF, and Ducousso R. Radiosensitive antioxidant membrane-bound factors in rat liver microsomes: II. The role of cytosol. Biochem Int 1987;14(1): 9-14.
- 36. Gavino VC, Miller JS, Ikharebha SO, Milo GE, and Cornwell DG. Effect of polyunsaturated fatty acids and antioxidants on lipid peroxidation in tissue cultures. J-Lipid Research 1981;22: 763-769.
- 37. Liepkalins VA, Icard-Liepkalins C, and Cornwell DG. Regulation of cell division in a human glioma cell clone by arachidonic acid and alpha-tocopherolquinone. Cancer Letters 1982;15: 173-178.
- 38. Morisaki N, Sprecher H, Milo GE, and Cornwell DG. Fatty acid specificity in the inhibition of cell proliferation and its relationship to lipid peroxidation and prostaglandin biosynthesis. Lipids 1982;17(12):893-899.
- 39. Thomson ABR, Cheeseman CI, and Walker K. Late effects of abnominal radiation on intestinal uptake of nutrients. 1986;107:344-353.

40. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Cheeseman CI, and Walker K. Fractionated low doses of abdominal irradiation alters jejunal uptake of nutrients. Int J Radiation Oncology Biol Phys 1986;12:917-925.

٩.

- 41. Keelan M, Walker K, Rajotte R, Clandinin T, and Thomson ABR. Diets alter jejunal morphology and brush-border membrane composition in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1987;65:210-218.
- 42. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, and Clandinin MT. Onset and persistence of changes in intestinal transport following dietary fat manipulation. Lipids 1987;22:22-27.
- 43. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Clandinin MT, and Walker K. A high linoleic acid diet <u>di</u>minishes enhanced intestinal uptake of sugars in diabetic rats. Am J Physiol 1987;252:G262-G271.
- 44. Brasitus TA. Lipid dynamics and protein lipid interactions in rat colonic epithelial cell basolateral membranes. Bioch and Biophys Acta 1983;728:20-30.
- 45. Brasitus TA, Dudeja PK, Worman HT and Foster ES. The lipid fluidity of rat colonic brush-border membrane vesicles modulate Na -H exchange and osmotic water permeability. BBA 1986;855: 16-24.
- 46. Dahiya R, Brasitus TA. Distribution of glycosphingolipids and ceramide of rat small intestinal mucosa. Lipids 1986;21(2): 112-116.
  - 47. Dudeja PK, Brasitús TA, Dahiya R, Brown MD, Thomas D, and Lau K. Intraluminal calcium modulates lipid dynamics of rat intestinal brush-border membranes. American J Physiology 1987;252: 6398-6303.
  - 48. Dahiya R, DudeJa PK, and Brasitus TA. Premalignant alterations in the glycosphingolipid composition of epithelial cells of rats treated with 1,2-dimethylhydrazine. Cancer Research 1987;47: 1031-1035.
  - 49. Weiser MM. Intestinal epithelial cell surface membrane glycoprotein synthesis. I. An indicator of cellular differentiation. J Biol Chem 1973;248:2536-2541.
  - 50. Breimer ME, Hanson GC, Karlson 'K-A, and Lefler H, Glycosphingolipids and the differentiation of intestinal epithelium. Exp Cell 1981;135:1-13.
  - 51. Stern BK. Some biochemical properties of suspensions of intestinal epithelial cells. Gastroenterology 1966;51(5): 855-867.
  - 52. Byrd JC, Fearney FJ, and Kim SY. Rat intestinal nucleotide-sugar pyrophosphatase localization, partial purification, and substrate

ł

À

### specificity. J Biol Chem 1985;260:7474-7480.

- 53. Harber DS, Stern BK, and Reilly RW. Removal and dissociation of epithelial cells from the rodent gastrointestinal tract. Nature 1964;Jul 18:319-320.
- 54. Craven PA, and DeRubertis FR. Cyclic nucleotide metabolism in rat colonic epithelial cells with different proliferative activities. BBA 1981;676:155-169.
- 55. Brasitus TA. Isolation of proliferative epithelial cells from the rat ceacum and proximal colon. Analytical Biochemistry 1982;123:364-372.
- 56. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, and Randel RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951;193: 265-275.
- 57. Salser JS, and Balis ME. Distribution and regulation of deoxythymidine kinase activity in differentiating cells of mammalian intestines. Cancer Res 1973;33:1889-1897.
- 58. Bresnick E, and Karjala RJ. End-product inhibition of thymidine kinase.activity in normal and leukemic human leukocytes. Cancer Res 1964;24:841-846.
- 59. Folch J, Lees M, and Stanley GHS. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. J Biol Chem 1957;226:497-509.
- 60. Touchstone JC, Chen JC, and Beaver KM. Improved separation of phospholipids in thin layer chromotography lipids 1980;15:61-62.
- 61. Metcalfe LD, and Schmitz AA. The rapid preparation of fatty acid esters for gas chromatographic analysis. Anal Chem 1961;33: 363-364.
- 62. Hargreaves KM, and Clandinin MT. Phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase: Evidence for influence of diet fat on selectivity of substrate for methylation in rat brain synaptic plasma membranes. BBA 1987;918:97-105.
- 63. Siedel J, Schlumberger H, Klose S, Ziegenhorn J, Wahlefeld AW. Improved reagent for the enzymatic determination of serum cholesterol. J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 1981;19:838-389.
- 64. Stahler F, Gruber W, Stinshoff K et al. Eine praxisgerechte enzymatishe cholesterin-bestimmung. \_Med Lab 1977;30:29-37.
- 65. Trinder P. Determination of glucose in blood using glucose oxidase with an alternative oxygen acceptor. Ann Clin Biochem 1969;6:24-27.

66.

Raheja RK, Kaur C, Singh AM and Bhatia IS. New colorimetric

method for the quantitative estimation of phospholipids without acid digestion. J Lipid Res 1973;14:695-697.

67. Gasbaro L. Simultaneous evaluation of phospholipid, free cholesterol, free fatty acid, triglyceride and esterified cholesterol by thin layer chromatography and densitometry. Clin Chem Acta 1972;37:271-275.

68. Carpenter AP Jr. Determination of tocopherols in vegetable oils. JAOCS 1979;56:668-671.

69. Nierenberg DW, and Lester DC. Determination of vitamins A and E in serum and plasma using a simplified clarification method and high performance liquid chromatography. J of Chromatography 1985;345:275-284.

- 70. Buttriss JL, and Diplock AT. HPLC methods for vitamin E in tissue. Methods Enzymol 1984;105(02 radicals biol syst):131-138.
- 71. Steel RGD, and Tory JH. Principle and procedures of statistics. NY: McGraw-Hill, book Co., Inc, 1960.
- 72. Culling CFA, Reid PE, Trueman LS, and Dunn WL. A simple method for the isolation of viable epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. P.S.E.B.M. 1973;142:434-438.
- 73. Bollum FJ, and Potter Van R. Incorporation of thymidine into deoxyribonucleic, acid from rat tissues. J Biol Chem 1958;233: 478-482.
- 74. Bollum FJ, and Potter Van R. Nucleic acid metabolism in regenerating rat liver: VI, Soluble enzymes which convert thymidine to thymidine phosphate and DNA. Cancer Res 1959;19: 561-565.
- 75. Breitman TR. The feedback inhibition of thymidine kinase. BBA 1963;76:153-155.
- 76. Klemperer HG, and Haynes GR. Thymidine kinase in rat liver during development. Biochem J 1968;108:541-546.
- 77. Garg ML, Keelan M, Wierzbicki A, Thomson ABR, and Clandinin MT. Regional differences in lipid composition and incorporation of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids into microsomal membranes of rat small intestine. (In press).
- 78. Keelan M, Cheeseman C, Walker K and Thomson ABR. Effect of external abdominal irradiation on intestinal morphology and brush border membrane enzyme and lipid composition. Rad Res 1986;105: 84-96.
- 79. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Clandinin MT, and Walker K. Dietary fat selectively alters transport properties of rat jejunum. J Clin Invest 1986;77:279-288.

80. Brasitus TA, and Dudeja PK. Correction of abnormal lipid fluidity and composition of rat ileal microvillus induced diabetes in chronic streptozotocin-induced diabetes by insulin therapy. J of Biol Chem 1985;260:12405-12409.

- 81. Brasitus TA, and Dudeja PK. Modulation of lipid, fluidity of small and large intestine antipodal membranes by Ca . Biochem J 1986;239:625-631.
- 82. Brasitus TA, and Dudeja PK. Regional differences in the lipid composition and fluidity of rat colonic brush-border membranes. BBA 1985;819:10-17.
- '83. Brasitus TA, and Keresztes RS. Isolation and partial characterization of basolateral membranes from rat proximal colonic epithelial cells. BBA 1983;728:11-19.
- 84. Brasitus TA, and Keresztes RS. Protein-lipid interaction in antipodal plasma membranes of rat colonocytes. BBA 1984;773: 290-300.
- 85. Keelan M, Walker K, and Thomson ABR. Effect of chronic ethanol and food deprivation on intestinal villus morphology and brushborder membrane content of lipid marker enzymes. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1985;63:1312-1328.
- 86. Thomson ABR, and Keelan M. The aging gut. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1986;64:30-38.
- 87. Thomson ABR, Keelan M, and Tavernini M. Early feeding of a high cholesterol diet enhances intestinal permeability to lipids in rabbits. Pediatr Res 1987;21:347-351.
- 88. Lands WEM. Metabolism of glycerolipids: II. The enzymatic acylation of lysolecithin. J Biol Chem 1960;235:2233-2237.
- 89. Kennedy EP, and Weiss SB. The function of cytidine coenzymes in the biosynthesis of phospholipids. J Biol Chem 1956;222:193-214.
- 90. Bremer J, and Greenberg DM. Methyl transfering enzyme system of microsome in the biosynthesis of lecithin (Phosphatidylcholine) BBA 1961;46:205-216.
- 91. Mansbach CM, and Parthasarathy S. Regulation of de novo phosphatidylcholine synthesis in rat intestine. J Biol Chem 1979;254(19):9688-9694.
- 92. Dudeja PK, Foster ES, and Brasitus TA. Synthesis of phosphatidylcholine by two distinct methyltransferases in rat colonic brush-border membranes: Evidence for extrinsic and intrinsic membrane activites. BBA 1986;875:493-500.
- 93. Dudeja PK, and Brasitus TA. Identification and partial characterization of phospholipid methylation in rat small-

intestinal-brush-border membranes. BBA 1987;919:307-310.

- 94. Brown MD, Dudeją PK, and Brasitus TA. Transmethylation reactions modulated Na -K ATPase activity in rat colonic basolateral membrane (BLM). Gastroenterology 1986;90:1359(A).
- 95. Gibson RA, McMurchie EJ, Charnock JS, and Kneebone GM. Homeostatic control of membrane fatty acid composition in the rat after dietary lipid treatment. Lipids 1984;19:942-951.
- 96. Sinenski M. Homeoviscous adaptation a homeostatic process that regulates the viscosity of membrane lipids in Escherichia coli. Proc Nat Acad Sci 1974;71(2).
- 97. Sabine JR. Membrane homeostasis: is there an optimal level of membrane cholesterol? Biosci Reports 1983;3:337-344.
- 98. Garg ML, and Sabine JR. Homeostatic control of membrane cholesterol and fatty acid metabolism in the rat liver. Biochem J 1988;251(1):11-16.
- 99. Spector AA, Kaduce TL, and Dane RW. Effect of dietary fat saturation on Acylcoenzyme A: Cholesterol acyltransferase activity of rat liver microsomes. J lipid Res 1980;21:169-179.
- 100. Innis SM, and Clandidn MT. Dynamic modulation of mitochondrial membrane physical properties and ATPase activity by diet lipid. Biochem J 1981;198:167-175.
- 101. Robblee NM, and Clandinin MT. Effect of dietary fat level and polyunsaturated fatty acid content on the phospholipid composition of rat cardiac mitochondrial membranes and mitochondrial ATPase activity. J Nutr 1984;114:263-269.
- 102. Spector A, and Yorek MA. Membrane lipid composition and cellular function. J Lipid Res 1985;26:1015-1035.
- 103. Brasitus TA, and Schachter D. Lipid dynamics and lipid protein interactions in rat enterocyte basolateral and microvillus membranes. American Chemical Society (Biochemistry) 1980;19: 2763-2769.
- 104. Miller KW, Lorr NA, and Yang CS. Simultaneous determination of plasma retinol, alpha-tocopherol, lycopene, alpha-carotene, and beta-carotene by high performance Fiquid chromatography. Analytical Biochemistry 1984;138:340-345.
- 105. Janson L, Nilsson B, and Lindgren R. Quantitation of serum tocopherols by high-performance liquid chromotography with fluorescence detection. J Chromatogr 1980;181:242-247.
- 106. Chow FI, and Omaye ST. Use of antioxidants in the analysis of vitamin A and E in mammalian plasma by high perforamnce liquid chromatography. Lipids 1983;18:837-841.

- 107. Mino M, Kasugai O, and Schimizu T. Red blood cell tocopherol and liver tocopherol in hyperlipemic rats as compared with plasma tocopherol. Lipids 1985;20:488-491.
- 108. Behrens WA, Scott FW, Madere R, and Trick KD. Increased plasma and tissue levels of yitamin E in the spontaneously diabetic BB rat. Life Sciences 1984;35:199-206.
- 109. Tyopponen JT, and Lindros KO. Combined vitamin E deficiency and ethanol pretreatment: Liver glutathione and enzyme changes. Int J Vit Nutr Res 1986;56:241-245.

- 110. Mino M, Kitagawa M, and Nakagawa S. Changes of alpha-tocopherol levels in red blood cells and plasma with respect to hemolysis induced dialuric acid in vitamin E-deficient rats. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 1981;27:199-207.
- 111. Miyazawa T, and Kaneda T. Extra-weak chemiluminescence of organ homogenate and blood in tocopherol-deficient rats. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 1981;27:415-423.
- 112. Mouri K, Hayafune Y, and Igarashi O. Effect of dietary protein on vitamin E levels in erythrocytes and tissues of rats. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 1986;32:147-155.
- 113. Kobatake Y, Kuroda K, Jinnouchi H, Nishide E, and Innami S. Differential effects of dietary eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic fatty acids on lowering of triglyceride and cholesterol levels in the serum of rats on hypercholesterolemic diet. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 1984;30:357-372.
- 114. Lokesh BR, Mather SN, and Spector AA. Effect of fatty acid saturation on NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in rat liver microsomes. J Lipid Res 1981;22:905-915.
- 115. Reddy BS, and Tanaka T. Interactions of selenium deficiency, vitamin E, polyunsaturated fat, and saturated fat, on azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis in male F344 rats. J Natl Cancer Inst 1986;76:11157-11162.
- 116. Takeda K, Shimada Y, Okada T, Amano M, Sakai T, and Yoshiya I. Lipid peroxidation in experimental sceptic rats. Crit Care Med 1986;14(8):717-723.
- 117. Franco DP, and Jenkinson SG. Rat lung microsomal lipid peroxidation: Effects of vitamin E and reduced glutathione. J Appl Physiol 1986;61(2):785-790.
- 118. Garner A, Jamal Z, and Slater TF. Effect of 2-mercaptopropionyl glycine on radiation-induced lipid peroxidation in liposomes and in rat liver microsomal suspensions. Int J Radiat Biol 1986; 50(2):323-335.
- 119. Deschner EE, and Zedeck MS. Lipid peroxidation in liver and

105

colon of methylazoxymethanol treated rats. Cancer Biochem Biophys 1986;9:25-29.

- 120. Kim RS, and LaBella FS. Criteria for determination of lipid peroxidation in tissues: Estimation in liver of mice intoxicated with carbon tetrachloride. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1986;65: 1503-1506.
- 121. Ohkawa H, Ohishi N, and Yagi K. Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Analytical Biochem 1979;95:351-358.
- 122. Baur G and Wendel A. The activity of the peroxide metabolizing system in human colon carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1980; 97(3):267-273.
- 123. Draper HH, Polensek L, Hadley M, and McGirr LG. Urinary malondialdehyde as an indicator of lipid peroxidation in the diet and in the tissues. Lipids 1984;19(11):836-843.
- 124. Black HS, Lenger WA, Gerguis J, and Thornby JI. Relation of antioxidants and level of dietary lipid to epidermal lipid peroxidation and ultraviolet carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1985; 45:6254-6259.
- 125. Ohyashiki T, Ushiro H, and Mohari T. Effects of alpha-tocopherol on the lipid peroxidation and fluidity of porcine intestinal brush-border membranes. BBA 1986;858:294-300.
- 126. Ohishi N, Ohkawa H, Miike A, Tatano T, and Yagi K. A new assay method for lipid peroxides using a methylene blue derivative. Biochem Int 1985;10(2):205-211.
- 127. Yagi K, Kiuchi K, Saito Y, Miike A, Kayahara N, Tatano T, and Ohishi N. Use of a new methylene blue derivative for determination of lipid peroxides in food. Biochem Int 1986; 12(2):367-371.
- 128. Kanazawa K, Minamoto S, Ashida H, Yamada K, Danno G, and and Natake M. Determination of lipid peroxide contents in rat liver by a new coloration test. Agric Biol Chem 1985;49(9):2799-2801.
- 129. Kameda L, Okayasu T, Ono T, and Imai Y. Effects of dietary vitamin E on microsomal lipid peroxidation and glutathione peroxidase in rat liver. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 1977;23:549-552.
- 130. Bacon BR, Healey JF, Brittenham GM, Park CH, Nunnari J, Tavill AS, and Bonkovsky HL. Hepatic microsomal function in rats with chronic dietary iron overload. Gastroenterology 1986;90(6): 1844-1853.
- 131. Kusterer K, Pihan G, and Szabo S. Role of lipid peroxidation in gastric mucosal lesions induced by HCL, NaOH, or ischemia. Am J Physiol 1987;252:6811-6816.

132. Buckingham KW. Effect of dietary polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio and dietary vitamin E on lipid peroxidation in the rat. J Nutr 1985;115:1425-1435.

•

١

.

.

.

•

106

۰.

# F. CONCLUSIONS AND GENERAL DISCUSSION

Dietary fat influences the membrane structure and function (1,2). Peroxidation of lipids and reduced oxygen species may cause cell injury including membrane damage and DNA mutations (3).

In this thesis, it was hypothesized that the mucosal cell membrane composition is influenced by diet, more specifically, it was hypothesized that:

- The lipid composition of "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells in the large intestine reflects, in part, the fatty acid composition of the diet.
- 2. Lipid fractions of the mucosal cells from rats fed high (50% as energy) or low (15% as energy) fat diets with high P/S ratio (P/S=1.2) exhibit more lipid peroxides than rats fed comparable high or low fat diets with a low P/S ratio (P/S=0.3).
- 3. A high fat diet (50% as energy) either saturated or unsaturated increases lipid peroxide production compared with a low fat diet (15% as energy) having the same P/S ratio (either P/S=1.2 or P/S=0.3).

The hypothesis has been verified as follows: Hypothesis 1.

Both fat level and fatty acid composition of the diets influenced the mucosal cell membrane composition in the rat large intestine. A higher monounsaturated fatty acid content in the mucosal cell lipids from rats fed low fat or low P/S diets and a higher polyunsaturated fatty acid content in the mucosal cell 1 ds from rats fed high fat or high P/S diets occurred. Although diets differed in their saturated fatty acid levels, no significant changes in the saturated fatty acid levels of the phosphological cells were observed.

Hypothesis 2 and 3.

Both dietary fat level and dietary fatty acid composition influenced the mucosal cell lipid peroxidation in the rat large However, the effects of diet treatment depended on the intestine. units used to express the results. High fat diets increased the lipid peroxide values expressed as nmole equivalents of cumen hydroperoxide/ mg of protein, while high P/S ratio increased lipid peroxide levels expressed is nmole equivalents of cumen hydroperoxide/mg or mole of phospholipids. Therefore, it is still to be determined which dietary factors - fat level, fatty acid composition, or both of them - are of primary importance. The effects observed are unlikely to be due to differences in vitamin E status as alpha- tocopherol levels were not significantly different between groups. In addition, a previous study showed no alpha-tocopherol differences in the liver microsomes of rats fed vitamin E controlled diets (4). Since the lipid peroxide levels measured were low, biological significance of the differences observed by dietary fat manipulations should be determined.

Although not hypothesized, cell fractions, "non-proliferative" and "proliferative", exhibited differences in the phospholipid fatty acid composition. Due to lack of material, lipid peroxide levels in the "non-proliferative" cell population were not measured.

108

Experimental procedures have been adjusted for the purpose of this Although consistency in the percentage of cell distribution thesis. between both cell populations, whatever the diets, occurred, wide variations in absolute amounts of cell released, among and within groups, were observed. Consequently, the "non-proliferative" cell fraction in a group with "high" absolute amount of total protein may correspond to the "non-proliferative" plus "proliferative" cell fractions of a group with low cell release (overlapping). This, besides the length of the experiment, may account for the statistical interactions observed. For example, thymidine kinase activities from rats which released more than 8 mg of total mucosal cell protein were compared to those from rats which released less than 6 mg of total mucosal cell protein. The "high" protein released group exhibited thymidine kinase activities of 2.76 + 0.29 and 5.79 + 0.56 (mean + SE, p<0.01) nmole of product/min/mg of protein in the "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell fractions, respectively. On the other hand, the group with "low" cell release exhibited thymidine kinase activities of 3.04 + 0.37 and 3.31 + 0.51 (mean + SE) nmoles of product/min/mg of protein in "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" cell populations, respectively. Indeed, these latter activities were not significantly These comparisons between fractions, whatever the diet different. treatment, were possible as no dietary effects on thymidine kinase were observed. Possible solutions to avoid dietary effects and differences in amount of material collected is discussed below.

Ŵ.

2

Although no data on the stained cells are available, contamination by mucus and bacteria were small or unlikely. Mucus, fluffy material, sediments around the cell pellet and was observed only occasionally in

the "non-proliferative" cells. Bacterial membranes are characterized by branch-chain fatty acids; no such fatty acids were detected during the fatty acid analysis by capillary gas chromatography. However, procedures to verify purity of the cell preparations should still be undertaken.

As mentioned in the Discussion, some work should be performed to validate the method. This involves the addition of a pre-incubation bath of the gut with a solution of 10% (w/v) fetal calf serum in 1.6% Jolik's minimum essential medium to breakdown the mucus (5), and microscopic controls for purity of the cell fractions. Intestinal preparations for microscopic observations should also be performed.

The present study is the first report on dietary fat effects on lipid composition and peroxidation in two types of mucosal cells in the rat large intestine. It is also the first time that higher content of the phosphatidylethanolamine than phosphatidylcholine has been observed in this tissue. This is in agreement with the result of a recent study on the epithelial cell microsomes in the rat small intestine (6). Brush-border and basolateral membranes from epithelial cells in the rat small and large intestine cor ant higher levels of phosphatidylcholine than phosphatidylethanolamine (7-9).

In conclusion, data presented in this thesis are in agreement with other studies demonstrating dietary fat effects on epithelial cell plasma membranes in the rat small and large intestine (7-9). As previously reported for other tissues, increased membrane susceptibility to lipid peroxidation correlated with increased membrane phospholipid polyunsaturated fatty acid levels. Further research is needed to better understand the effects of dietary fat manipulations on i the gut and the possible medical applications of such manipulations.

-

.

• .

111

Several studies using the methodology described in this thesis could be performed. This includes the following:

validation of the cell isolation procedure by first, treating the gut with a pre-incubation solution containing 10% (w/v) fetal calf serum in 1.6% Jolik's minimum essential medium, secondly adjusting triethanolamine-HCL concentration in the solution of the cell isolation if necessary. cells The should be counted and stained for differentiation. gut and preparations observed microscopically. Specific staining of bacteria and mucus should also be performed;

for comparisons, peroxides should be measured in freshly prepared and stored cell lipid samples. The biological relevance of small lipid per kide values, such as those reported in this study, should be investigated;

effects of various fat diets (fish oil or vegetable oil) with controlled vitamin E levels (and perhaps other antioxidants) on both membrane lipid composition and peroxidation in these cell types should be looked at. Site variations, i.e. along the large bowel - proximal vs. distal portion - and within cells - microsomes, brush-border and basolateral membranes - should also be considered;

biological reasons for the lower phosphatidylcholine than phosphatidylethanolamine in microsomes compared to plasma membranes as well as pathways of synthesis (membrane inter-relationships) should be investigated.

Some experiments related to colon cancer could also be considered. For instance, changes in premalignant brush-border membrane, but not.

basolateral membrane, by \_,2-DMH-induced colon cancer in the rat have been reported (10-12). Of interest would be to determine what are the premalignant transformations in both "non-proliferative" and "proliferative" mucosal cells as well as in different types of membranes within a cell population. The effects of dietary fat on this model should be investigated. One should also pay attention to diseases of the large intestine that are influenced by dietary fat intake and likely to be related to deleterious effects of lipid peroxides and free radicals. Finally, another aspect that could be considered is the effects of diet treatment on the mucus composition, on the effective resistance of the unstirred water layer, and on the mucosal cell cohesion in the large intestine.

#### H. REFERENCES

- 1. Clandinin MT, Foot M, and Robson L. Plasma membrane: Can its structure and function be modulated by dietary fat? Comp Biochem Physiol 1983;76B:335-339.
- Clandinin MT, Field CJ, Hargreaves K, Morson L, and Zsigmond E. Role of diet fat in subcellular structure and function. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1985;63:546-556.
- 3. Slater TF, Cheeseman KH, and Proudfoot K. Free radicals, lipid peroxidation, and cancer. In: Armstrong D, Sohal RS, Cutler RG, and Slater TF, eds. Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. New York, NY: Raven Press, 1984:293-306.
- Lokesh BR, Mather SN, and Spector AA. Effect of fatty acid saturation on NADPH-dependent lipid peroxidation in rat liver microsomes. J Lipid Res 1981;22:905-915.
- 5. Brasitus TA. Isolation of proliferative epithelial cells from the rat ceacum and proximal colon. Analytical Biochemistry 1982;123:364-372.
- 6. Garg ML, KeePan M, Wierzbicki A, Thomson ABR, and Clandinin MT. Regional differences in lipid composition and incorporation of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids into microsomal membranes of rat small intestine. (In press).
- Keelan M, Wlaker K, Rajotte R, Clandinin MT, and Thomson ABR. Diets alter jejunal morphology and brush-border membrane composition in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1987;65:210-218.
- Thomson ABR, Keelan M, Clandinin MT, and Walker K. Dietary fat selectively alters transport properties of rat jejunum. J Clin Invest 1986;77:279-288.
- 9. Brasitus TA, Davidson NO, and Schachter D. Variations in dietary triacylglycerol saturation/alter the lipid composition and fluidity of rat intestinal plasma membranes. BBA 1985;812: 460-472.
- Brasitus TA, Dudeja PK, and Dahiya R. Premalignant alterations in the lipid composition and fluidity of colonic brush-border membranes of rats administered 1,2-dimethylhydrazine. J Clin Invest 1986;77:831-840.
- 11. Dahiya R, Dudeja PK, and Brasitus TA. Premalignant alterations in the glycosphingolipid composition of epithelial cells of rats treated with 1,2-dimethylhydrazine. Cancer Research 1987;47: 1031-1035.

12.	Brasitus	TA,	Dudeja	ΡK,	Dahiya	R,	and	Brown	· MD .

# 1,2-dimethylhydrazine induced alterations in colonic plasma membrane fluidity: Restriction to the luminal region. BBA 1987;896:311-317.

.

, - 115

## I. APPENDICES

\$

APPENDIX 1: Vitamin E Content of Safflower Oil and Supplemented

Safflower Oil as Determined by HPLC

To keep similar vitamin E intake per caloric basis between each group, diets have been adjusted for vitamin E content. Safflower oil, after determining its vitamin E concentration, was supplemented with d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate to give a stock solution of 10 IU/g of oil. Using this solution, the vitamin E levels of the four diets were equalized to the vitamin E content of the high fat, high polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio diet which had the highest vitamin E content without supplement. Alpha-tocopherol and d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate were determined by HPLC as described in the material and methods. Results were as follows:

Source alpha-tocopherol d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate
(IU/100 g of oil) (IU/g of oil)

10

 $10.50 + 0.01^2$ 

Safflower oil 52.88 + 0.73<sup>1</sup> Supplemented Safflower Oil Theoretical Practical

<sup>1</sup>Value is mean + SD of 2 replicates injected 3 times <sup>2</sup>Value is mean + SD of 2 replicates APPENDIX 2: HPLC separation of rat serum alpha-tocopherol

Abbreviations: A-TOCO.AC., alpha-tocopheryl acetate (internal standard); A-TOCO., alpha-tocopherol.

